
CITY of LA GRANDE 

City Council Regular Session 
Wednesday, November 2, 2022 

 
Council Chambers 

La Grande City Hall 
1000 Adams Avenue 

 

REVISED AGENDA 
 

The meeting will be available for viewing via the City’s scheduled Charter Communications channel 180 that will 
begin at 6:00 p.m. on November 2, 2022, on the La Grande Alive website at https://eoalive.tv/city-events/ or on the 
Eastern Oregon Alive.TV Facebook page at https://www.facebook.com/EOAliveTV.  

 
1. WELCOME to this REGULAR SESSION of the LA GRANDE CITY COUNCIL  

a. Call to Order 
b. Pledge of Allegiance 

c. Roll Call 
 Per ORS 192.670(1), some Councilors may be participating in this Regular Session by electronic communication. 

 
2. AGENDA APPROVAL 

 

3. CONSENT AGENDA 
The Consent Agenda includes routine items of business which may be approved by one Motion of the Council.  Any Councilor so desiring 
may by request remove one or more items from the Consent Agenda for Individual consideration under the Unfinished or New Business 
portion of the Agenda.  
a. Consider:  Approving Regular Session Minutes; October 5, 2022 
b. Consider:  Authorizing City Manager to Sign Lease Agreement Renewal; Sac Annex Parking Lot, 2022 to 2027 

 

4. PUBLIC COMMENTS 
Those individuals who wish to address the Council in connection with any item which is printed on tonight’s Agenda may do so during the 
time that item is under discussion by the Council.  Individuals wishing to speak to the Council about non-Agenda items may do so during 
this Public Comments portion of the Agenda.  Please print your name and address on the Public Comments Sign-in Sheet, located on the 
podium.  When addressing the Council, speak loudly and clearly into the Podium microphone, and state your name.  Persons interested in 
providing virtual public comments shall contact City Staff at sstockhoff@cityoflagrande.org or by calling the City Recorder at (541) 962-
1309 not later than 5:00 pm the day prior to meeting to make arrangements.  In the event the Mayor does not announce a time limit for 
comments, each speaker is asked to confine their comments to three minutes in length, whether the comments are in-person or virtual. 
 
 

 

5. PUBLIC HEARINGS 
a. Consider:   Appealing Planning Commission Decision; Conditional Use Permit , File # 01-PCA-22 and # 11-CUP-22      [Boquist] 
 

6. UNFINISHED BUSINESS 
 

7. NEW BUSINESS 
a. Consider:  Awarding Bid for Sanitary Sewer Rehabilitation                         [Carpenter] 
b. Consider:  Authorizing City Manager to Finalize and Sign Transport Agreement; Life Flight and Fire Department   [Cornford] 
c. Consider:  Establishing Prioritized ARPA Roadway Project List            [Carpenter] 
d. Consider:  Approving Measure 110 Letter                        [Bell]   

         

8. UNION COUNTY COMMISSIONER’S UPDATE 
 

9. STAFF COMMENTS 
 

10. CITY MANAGER COMMENTS 
 

11. CITY COUNCIL COMMENTS 
 

12. ADJOURN 
 
____________________________ 

 Stacey M. Stockhoff 
 Acting City Recorder 
 
The City Council is currently scheduled to meet again in a Regular Session on Wednesday, December 7, 2022 at 6:00 p.m. The City Council of the City 

of La Grande reserves the right to convene an Executive Session for any purpose authorized under ORS 192.660. Persons requiring special 
accommodations who wish to participate in the City Council Meeting are encouraged to make arrangements prior to the meeting by calling 541-962-

1309. The City of La Grande does not discriminate against individuals with disabilities. 



Agenda Item. 3.a.-3.b. 
Office Use Only 

CITY of LA GRANDE 
 

COUNCIL ACTION FORM 
 

Council Meeting Date:  November 2, 2022  
 
PRESENTER:           Robert A. Strope, City Manager 
 
COUNCIL ACTION:          CONSIDER CONSENT AGENDA - REVISED 
 
 1.  MAYOR: Request Staff Report 
 
 2.  MAYOR: Entertain Motion 
 
  Suggested Motion:  I move we accept the Consent Agenda as 

presented.  
 
   OR 
 
  Suggested Motion:  I move we accept the Consent Agenda as 

amended.  
 
 3.  MAYOR: Invite Council Discussion 
  
 4.  MAYOR: Ask for the Vote 
  
********************************************************************************************************************************* 
EXPLANATION:  A Consent Agenda includes routine items of business with limited public interest, which may 
be approved by one Motion of the Council.  Any Councilor may, by request, remove any item of business from the 
Consent Agenda.  
 

a. Consider:  Approving Regular Session Minutes; October 5, 2022 
b. Consider:  Authorizing City Manager to Sign Lease Agreement Renewal; Sac Annex Parking Lot, 2022 to 2027 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
********************************************************************************************************************************* 
Reviewed By: (Initial)        COUNCIL ACTION (Office Use Only) 
City Manager  _____  Human Resources Dept _____   
City Recorder  _____  Library   _____   Motion Passed 
Aquatics Division  _____  Parks Department  _____   Motion Failed;     
Building Department _____ Planning Department _____   Action Tabled:     
ED Department _____ Police Department _____ Vote:      
Finance   _____  Public Works Department _____   
Fire Department   _____        Resolution Passed 
  Effective Date:     
 
           Ordinance Adopted  
  First Reading:     
  Second Reading:    
  Effective Date:     



Agenda Item 3.a. 
Office Use Only 

 

CITY of LA GRANDE 
 

City Council Regular Session 
 

October 5, 2022 
 
 

Council Chambers 
La Grande City Hall 
1000 Adams Avenue  

 

MINUTES 
 
 
COUNCILORS PRESENT:   COUNCILORS ABSENT EXCUSED: 
Stephen E. Clements, Mayor     
Gary Lillard, Mayor Pro Tem       
John Bozarth, Councilor        
David Glabe, Councilor 
Mary Ann Miesner, Councilor (Attended via electronic device) 
Nicole Howard, Councilor 
Justin Rock, Councilor 
 
STAFF PRESENT 

Robert Strope, City Manager 
Kayla Brainerd, Assistant to the City Manager 
Stacey Stockhoff, Acting City Recorder 
Gary Bell, Police Chief  
Timothy Bishop, Economic Development Director 
Michael Boquist, Community Development Director 
Carrie Bushman, Library Director 
Kyle Carpenter, Public Works Director  
Emmitt Cornford, Fire Chief  
Heather Rajkovich, Finance Director 
 
 

Per ORS 192.670(1), some Councilors and/or Staff 
participated in this Regular Session by electronic 
communication. 

 
CALL TO ORDER/PLEDGE OF ALLEGIANCE/ 
ROLL CALL/AGENDA APPROVAL Mayor CLEMENTS called to order this Regular Session of 

the Council at 6:00 p.m. Roll Call was taken and a quorum 
was determined to be present. 

 
CONSENT AGENDA 
a. Consider:  Approving Regular Session Minutes;  

September 7, 2022 
b.   Consider:  Ratifying 2021-2022 City Manager 
        Evaluation  

 
The following Motion was introduced by LILLARD; ROCK 
providing the Second:  

  
MOTION MOTION: I move that we accept the Consent Agenda as 

presented.   
 



City of La Grande 
City Council Minutes 
Regular Session of October 5, 2022 
Page 2 
 
 

S:\Manager's Office\MEETINGS\MINUTES\2022\COUNCIL\10-05-2022 Council Minutes.doc 

 

VOTE MSC: 7-0 (Yes: CLEMENTS, LILLARD, BOZARTH, GLABE, 
HOWARD, MIESNER, and ROCK; No: None) 

 
PUBLIC COMMENTS Gerry MONTGOMERY expressed concern over the 

excessive amount of dirt that had accumulated around her 
neighborhood, including houses and cars, due to the 
construction project happening on Willow Street. She 
believed it violated City Ordinance three-hundred forty-one 
(341), page four (4), line seven (7), which states, “The 
plowing, unpermitted burning, disturbing, or cultivating of a 
field, yard or other plot of land that creates a dust or smoke 
problem.” (editorial note: Nuisance Ordinance 3241, Series 
2018 – see page four (4), Section 3.K.) 

 
 Mayor CLEMENTS asked if the dirt accumulation inside the 

home happened during the summer due to windows being 
open, to which MONTGOMERY stated no, the windows were 
closed.  

 
 MONTGOMERY stated not only was the dirt issue a problem 

during construction hours, but it also was an issue when 
pedestrians would use the construction site driveway as a 
turn-around spot for their own vehicles.  

 
 Mayor CLEMENTS thanked MONTGOMERY for bringing this 

to the Council’s attention. He stated that Kyle CARPENTER 
had spoken with the contractor and the contractor planned 
to put rock down to help minimize the dust. He explained he 
was not in a position to issue a citation, but knew there was 
action being taken to resolve the matter and asked 
MONTGOMERY to wait a couple of days to see if the issue 
could be resolved. 

 
 LILLARD asked when the Code Enforcement Officer was 

going to return to duty, to which Chief BELL noted there 
was not a specific date for when she would return to work. 
The Police Department was doing the best they could to 
handle Ordinance violations in her absence.  

 
 STROPE commented that the Public Works Department had 

been interacting with the contractor on this particular case. 
 
 Mayor CLEMENTS commented to STROPE, if there were any 

actions that could be taken in the immediate future to 
remediate the situation, to please do so. If there was 
something the contactor could due within the means of his 
business, it should be done.  

 
 Kaylene SOUTHARD commented that a citation would not 

remove the dirt that had accumulated on their properties 
and asked how they were going to be able to remove the 
built up dirt from their residences, to which MAYOR 
CLEMENTS noted he did not have authority to send Public 
Works to clean things up, but in his opinion, the contractor 



City of La Grande 
City Council Minutes 
Regular Session of October 5, 2022 
Page 3 
 
 

S:\Manager's Office\MEETINGS\MINUTES\2022\COUNCIL\10-05-2022 Council Minutes.doc 

 

should be held responsible for that and the neighborly thing 
to do would be for the contractor to offer to help with the 
cleaning.  

 
PUBLIC HEARINGS 
a.   Consider: Ordinance, Second Reading:  
      Public Hearing; Establishing Time, Place 
      and Manner Restrictions on Psilocybin  
      Service Centers and Manufacturing of  
      Psilocybin Products 
 
 Mayor CLEMENTS announced that the Public Hearing was 

still open for the Ordinance to be read a Second Time by 
Title Only and considered for Adoption at 6:12 p.m. and that 
the Rules of Order were read in their entirety during the 
Regular Session of September 7, 2022.   

 
STAFF REPORT     Mayor CLEMENTS requested the Staff Report. 
 
 Michael BOQUIST, Community Development Director  

 
BOQUIST stated during the Regular Session of August 3, 
2022, the City Council adopted Ordinance 3256, Series 2022, 
declaring a ban on psilocybin service centers and the 
manufacturing of psilocybin products within the City of La 
Grande; and referring said Ordinance and the question of 
establishing a full ban to the voters at the November 8, 2022, 
Statewide General Election.  Given the uncertainty of the 
outcome of the November vote regarding the proposed ban, 
City Staff recommended the City Council proceed with the 
process to establish time, place, and manner restrictions for 
such facilities. 
 
BOQUIST mentioned should the November election result in 
a “No” vote, businesses engaged in the manufacturing, 
delivery, and administration of psilocybin may begin 
applying for permits to operate within the City of La Grande 
in January, 2023.  In preparation for this potential election 
result and as discussed above, Staff recommended that the 
City Council consider establishing time, place and manner 
restrictions as provided in ORS 475A.530, to minimize 
potential adverse impacts to adjacent properties and land 
uses that may be incompatible with such facilities. The 
proposed Ordinance was modeled after the City’s Land 
Development Code Ordinance, Article 3.21, establishing 
time, place and manner regulations for marijuana related 
facilities.   
 
BOQUIST noted should the November election result in a 
“Yes” vote and a ban was imposed, the time, place, and 
manner restrictions applicable to psilocybin related 
businesses being proposed in the Ordinance would not be 
applicable until such time as the ban was repealed. 
 

 



City of La Grande 
City Council Minutes 
Regular Session of October 5, 2022 
Page 4 
 
 

S:\Manager's Office\MEETINGS\MINUTES\2022\COUNCIL\10-05-2022 Council Minutes.doc 

 

Following are the proposed standards for psilocybin service 
centers and the manufacturing of psilocybin products: 
 
A. Location.  Psilocybin service centers and the 

manufacturing of psilocybin products, measured from 
the real property boundary on which the facility is sited, 
shall not be located: 

1. Within 1,000 feet of the real property comprising a: 
a. Public or private preschool, elementary, 

secondary or career school attended primarily 
by minors; or, 

b. Public library; or, 
c. Public Park; or, 
d. Community recreation facility attended primarily 

by minors; or 
e. Participant sports and recreation facility 

attended primarily by minors; or, 
f. Licensed daycare center. 

2. Within 1,000 feet of the real property boundary 
comprising a psilocybin service center and/or a 
business engaged in the manufacturing of 
psilocybin products. 

 
B. Residential Uses.  Psilocybin service centers and the 

manufacturing of psilocybin products shall not be 
located on a property with a residence or a mixed-use 
property that includes a residence, including a 
caretaker’s residence. 

 
C. Hours.  Psilocybin service centers and the 

manufacturing of psilocybin products shall not operate 
between the hours of 8:00 p.m. and 8:00 a.m. Psilocybin 
service centers and the manufacturing of psilocybin 
products on properties with no other businesses, uses, 
or other patron activity are exempt from this restriction. 

 
D. Public View.  All doorways, windows and other openings 

of psilocybin service centers and businesses engaged 
in the manufacturing of psilocybin products shall be 
located, covered or screened in such a manner to 
prevent a view into the interior from any exterior public 
or semipublic area. 

 
E. Lighting.  Primary entrances, parking lots and exterior 

walkways shall be clearly illuminated with downward 
facing security lighting to provide after-dark visibility to 
employees and patrons.  Fixtures shall be designed and 
located so the light patterns overlap, but do not cast 
light beyond the property boundaries, except over 
pedestrian areas within a public right-of-way. 

 
F. Storage.  All storage shall be located within a permanent 

building and may not be located within a trailer, tent or 



City of La Grande 
City Council Minutes 
Regular Session of October 5, 2022 
Page 5 
 
 

S:\Manager's Office\MEETINGS\MINUTES\2022\COUNCIL\10-05-2022 Council Minutes.doc 

 

motor vehicle.  Outdoor storage of any material 
associated with psilocybin service centers and the 
manufacturing of psilocybin products is prohibited. 

 
G. Odors.  Psilocybin service centers and the 

manufacturing of psilocybin products shall use an air 
filtration and ventilation system designed to ensure, that 
psilocybin related odors are confined to the premises 
and are not detectible beyond the property boundaries 
in which the facility is located. 

 
H. Secure Disposal.  Psilocybin service centers and 

businesses engaged in the manufacturing of psilocybin 
products must provide for secure disposal of psilocybin 
remnants or by-products; psilocybin remnants or by-
products shall not be placed within the facility’s exterior 
refuse container. 

 
The following was information provided to the City Council 
during the Regular Session of August 3, 2022, when they 
voted to place the question of a ban on the November ballot: 
 
A. In November 2020, Oregon voters (56%) approved Ballot 

Measure 109, known as the Oregon Psilocybin Service 
Act which allows for the manufacturing, delivery and 
administration of psilocybin at supervised, licensed 
facilities. 

B. Psilocybin mushrooms are wild or cultivated 
mushrooms that contain psilocybin, a naturally 
occurring psychoactive and hallucinogenic compound 
that produce changes in perception, mood, and 
cognitive processes. 

C. ORS 475A.235 provides that the Oregon Health 
Authority (OHA) will regulate the manufacturing, 
transportation, delivery, sale and purchase of psilocybin 
products and the provision of psilocybin services in the 
State. 

D. The OHA has initiated a rulemaking process and intends 
to begin accepting applications for proposed facilities, 
beginning on January 2, 2023. 

E. The OHA has not completed the rulemaking process for 
implementing the State’s psilocybin program and there 
are still a lot of things unknown about the regulation 
process. 
 For instance, there was nothing known so far about 

how the OHA will regulate the administration of 
psilocybin so as to prevent DUIIs when persons 
leave the service centers. 

 Additionally, the criteria for dosage levels have not 
been released. 

 The State can impose a 15% tax on the sale of 
psilocybin products, but a municipality cannot 
impose a local tax. 

 



City of La Grande 
City Council Minutes 
Regular Session of October 5, 2022 
Page 6 
 
 

S:\Manager's Office\MEETINGS\MINUTES\2022\COUNCIL\10-05-2022 Council Minutes.doc 

 

BOQUIST stated because of the unknown elements of the 
rulemaking process, city staffs throughout the State do not 
know how the manufacturing, delivery and administration of 
psilocybin at supervised, licensed facilities would occur 
within city jurisdictions. 
 
BOQUIST shared that the first Public Hearing on this 
proposed Ordinance was held on September 7, 2022, at 
which time the Ordinance was read for the first time, by Title 
only.  While public testimony was invited during this first 
public hearing, there was no written or oral testimony from 
members of the public.  The City Council proceeded with the 
First Reading of the Ordinance and continued the hearing to 
October 5, 2022. 
 
Mayor CLEMENTS asked if two (2) Psilocybin Centers could 
open right next to each other, to which BOQUIST stated no, 
they would need to be one-thousand (1000) feet away from 
each other.  Mayor CLEMENTS asked if a Marijuana 
business and Psilocybin Center could be right next to each 
other, to which BOQUIST noted that as of now, yes. That 
would need to be addressed during the code amendment 
process.  
 

PUBLIC TESTIMONY                                          None 
 
COUNCIL DISCUSSION                         None 
 

Mayor CLEMENTS closed the Public Hearing at 6:17 p.m. 
and entertained a Motion:  
 
The following Motion was introduced by BOZARTH; ROCK 
providing the Second:  

  
MOTION MOTION: I move that the proposed Ordinance Establishing 

Time, Place and Manner Restrictions on Psilocybin Service 
Centers and the Manufacturing of Psilocybin Products be 
read for the Second Time by Title Only, Put to a Vote, and 
Adopted.   

 
COUNCIL DISCUSSION None 
 

Upon Mayor CLEMENTS’ request, Acting City Recorder 
STOCKHOFF read the proposed Ordinance for the Second 
Time by Title Only. 
 
AN ORDINANCE OF THE CITY COUNCIL OF THE CITY OF 
LA GRANDE, UNION COUNTY, OREGON, ESTABLISHING 
TIME, PLACE AND MANNER RESTRICTION ON PSILOCYBIN 
SERVICE CENTERS AND THE MANUFACTURE OF 
PSILOCYBIN PRODUCTS; AND DECLARING AN EFFECTIVE 
DATE [3257] 
 



City of La Grande 
City Council Minutes 
Regular Session of October 5, 2022 
Page 7 
 
 

S:\Manager's Office\MEETINGS\MINUTES\2022\COUNCIL\10-05-2022 Council Minutes.doc 

 

VOTE MSC: 7-0 (Yes: CLEMENTS, LILLARD, BOZARTH, GLABE, 
HOWARD, MIESNER, and ROCK; No: None) 
 

b.   Consider: Ordinance, Second Reading: 
      Public Hearing; Establishing a Temporary 

Moratorium on Bed and Breakfast Inns 
 

Mayor CLEMENTS announced that the Public Hearing was 
still open for the Ordinance to be read a Second Time by 
Title Only and considered for Adoption at 6:17 p.m. and that 
the Rules of Order were read in their entirety during the 
Regular Session on September 7, 2022. 

 
STAFF REPORT     Mayor CLEMENTS requested the Staff Report. 
 
 Michael BOQUIST, Community Development Director 
 

BOQUIST announced that the City Council and Planning 
Commission held a Joint Work Session on August 8, 2022, 
to discuss the possibility of pursuing a temporary 
moratorium on the acceptance of Conditional Use Permit 
applications for new Bed and Breakfast Inns (BnBs). 
 
BOQUIST stated as discussed during the Work Session, 
over the past 2+ years, since early 2020, the Planning 
Commission had considered twenty-eight (28) Conditional 
Use Permit applications for BnBs, which had resulted in the 
conversion and removal/loss of twenty-four (24) full-time 
dwelling units from the City’s housing stock or inventory 
(rentals and home ownerships).  The frequency of 
applications being submitted and the loss of housing had 
been concerning to the Planning Commission.   
 
BOQUIST noted that in 2019, the City of La Grande 
completed a Housing Needs Analysis (HNA), which was 
adopted by the City Council into the Goal 10 Chapter of the 
City’s Comprehensive Plan Ordinance in 2020.  The HNA 
identified that La Grande had a shortage of needed housing, 
with a need for seven hundred ninety-five (795) new 
dwelling units over the next twenty (20) years, by the year 
2040.  This included a need for three hundred thirty-six (336) 
single-family dwelling units, one hundred fifteen (115) 
duplex dwelling units, two hundred (200) multi-family 
dwelling units, and one hundred forty-four (144) other group 
housing dwelling units.   
 
When broken down into annual targets or goals, the 
following was the breakdown of housing types, inventory 
needed per HNA, quantities of new housing built, quantities 
of housing lost to BnBs, and overall gain/deficit: 
 
 Single-family dwellings (16.8/year = 50.4 needed in 2020-

2022 = 336 total 20-year need) 
o Gained 26 new dwelling units 



City of La Grande 
City Council Minutes 
Regular Session of October 5, 2022 
Page 8 
 
 

S:\Manager's Office\MEETINGS\MINUTES\2022\COUNCIL\10-05-2022 Council Minutes.doc 

 

o Lost 18 dwelling units to BnBs 
o Total: Gained 8 dwelling units towards HNA 2020-

2022 goal. 
 42 units short of 3-year goal. 
 Approximately 2+ year setback in housing 

production. 
 

 Duplexes (5.75/year = 17.25 needed in 2020-2022 = 115 
total 20-year need) 
o Gained 6 new dwelling units (6 duplexes) 
o Lost 2 dwelling units to BnBs 
o Total: Gained 4 dwelling units towards HNA 2020-

2022 goal. 
 13 units short of 3-year goal. 
 Approximately 2+ year setback in housing 

production. 
 
 Multi-Family (10/year = 30 needed in 2020-2022 = 200 

total 20-year need) 
o Gained 97 – 17 new completed MF units w/ 82 new 

MF units under construction 
o Lost 3 to BnBs 
o Total: Gained 64 dwelling units towards HNA 2020-

2022 goal. 
 34 units additional 
 Approximately 2 years ahead of schedule. 

 
 Other: MH Parks & Group (7.2/year = 21.6 needed in 

2020-2022 = 144 total 20-year need) 
o No change. 

 
BOQUIST noted that in early 2021, the Planning Commission 
and City Council expressed a commitment toward 
addressing needed housing through the adoption of a 
Housing Production Strategy (HPS).  The HPS provided a 
list of recommended strategies that the City could take to 
promote the development of needed housing in the City.  
The first seven (7) strategies required amendments to the 
City’s Land Development Code Ordinance, which were 
intended to encourage the production of needed housing.  
Other strategies were policy/program related that involved 
developing incentives. 
 
To further emphasize the City’s commitment to address 
needed housing, during the Council 2022 goal setting 
retreat, BOQUIST stated that the Council emphasized the 
importance of continuing to pursue solutions to the housing 
shortage in La Grande per the City’s adopted HNA and HPS.  
It was noted that the lack of adequate housing had an 
adverse impact on the ability of local businesses to recruit 
staff. 
 
BOQUIST mentioned as a result of the recent adoption of 
the HNA and HPS, and the City Council’s emphasis on 



City of La Grande 
City Council Minutes 
Regular Session of October 5, 2022 
Page 9 
 
 

S:\Manager's Office\MEETINGS\MINUTES\2022\COUNCIL\10-05-2022 Council Minutes.doc 

 

pursuing solutions to address the City’s housing shortage, 
the Planning Commission arranged for the August 8, 2022, 
Work Session with the City Council to discuss the 
Commission’s concerns regarding how Bed and Breakfast 
Inns may compromise the residential character of 
neighborhoods, and more importantly, adversely impact the 
City’s needed housing inventory as a result of slower than 
anticipated residential growth due to various economic 
factors.  Such concerns have resulted in the Planning 
Commission raising the question of whether or not to 
establish a temporary moratorium on the permitting of new 
Bed and Breakfast Inns.  As a result of Work Session 
discussions, by consensus of the City Council, staff was 
directed to schedule a public hearing to consider this matter 
during the City Council’s Regular Session on September 7, 
2022, limited to a temporary moratorium only on the 
conversions of entire dwelling units from full-time single-
family dwellings to vacation rentals. 
 
With regards to process, to establish a moratorium, 
BOQUIST informed that notice was required to be provided 
to the Oregon Department of Land Conservation and 
Development at least 45-days prior to the final public 
hearing, in accordance with ORS 197.520(1)(a).  Notice was 
provided to the State on August 15, 2022, which puts the 
final public hearing on the City Council’s October 5, 2022, 
Regular Session agenda. 
 
BOQUIST noted that to provide the public an opportunity to 
learn about the proposed temporary moratorium and to 
participate in the public hearings to consider this matter, the 
City elected to hold two (2) public hearings with the first 
public hearing and first reading of the Ordinance scheduled 
for September 7, 2022.  The second public hearing on this 
proposed Ordinance was scheduled for October 5, 2022, at 
which time the Ordinance would be read for the second time 
and considered for adoption.  Public comments would be 
accepted at both public hearings. 

 
BOQUIST stated that the proposed Ordinance was drafted 
with an Emergency Clause, causing the Ordinance to go 
into effect immediately upon its passage on October 5, 2022.  
The purpose of this emergency clause was to minimize the 
additional loss of needed housing through new land use 
application submittals to convert dwellings to Bed and 
Breakfast Inns.  All land use applications submitted prior to 
the effective date of the Moratorium Ordinance were not 
subject to the moratorium and would be considered for 
approval.  
 
BOQUIST stated that at the first Public Hearing held on 
September 7, 2022, the Ordinance was read for the first time, 
by Title only.  No written testimony was submitted regarding 
this matter, but oral testimony was provided both in support 



City of La Grande 
City Council Minutes 
Regular Session of October 5, 2022 
Page 10 
 
 

S:\Manager's Office\MEETINGS\MINUTES\2022\COUNCIL\10-05-2022 Council Minutes.doc 

 

and neutral to this request during the hearing.  The City 
Council continued the hearing to October 5, 2022. 
 
Following the first Public Hearing, the Ordinance was 
revised to remove the reference to “Airbnb” as this is the 
name of a private company.  The Land Development Code 
referred to these types of properties as Bed and Breakfast 
Inns so all references to Airbnb have been changed.  There 
were no other revisions to the Ordinance. 
 
In response to Mayor CLEMENTS’ question, BOQUIST 
stated the moratorium would not affect the construction of a 
new single-family home with the intent of operating it as a 
short-term rental. The Planning Department would prefer 
that the builder apply for the Conditional Use Permit first, 
but since it would not be taking an “already built home” off 
the market, the builder would still be able to move forward 
with the application process.  
 
Mayor CLEMENTS asked if any applicants who submitted 
their applications by 5:00 p.m. on Wednesday, October 5th 
would still be considered and presented to the Planning 
Commission, to which BOQUIST stated yes.  They were still 
valid applications that would go through the process as if 
the moratorium did not exist.  
 
Mayor CLEMENTS asked when the one-hundred twenty 
(120) days would start, to which BOQUIST noted it would 
start immediately if the Council supported the emergency 
clause.  BOQUIST clarified that the Planning Commission 
would most likely ask the Council for an additional one-
hundred twenty (120) days to complete the updated 
standards because it was a lengthy process to get those 
adopted. As of right now, it could be next summer or fall 
before the standards would be adopted.  
 
In response to LILLARD’S question, BOQUIST explained no 
one could turn in an application for one-hundred twenty 
(120) days or until the moratorium was lifted, and that only 
applied to applicants who were converting an existing home  
to a short-term rental.  

 
PUBLIC TESTIMONY                                         Liberty AVILA, Planning Commission Member, spoke in 

support of the moratorium. She noted, over the past couple 
of years, BnB applications had been coming through at an 
accelerating rate which limited the amount of time the 
Commission could delve into other planning projects. She 
expressed concern that realtors were marketing homes with 
the impression that they would make a good BnB and taking 
away potential starter homes for residents in the City when 
home ownership was so important to the community.  

 
 Wally WALLER stated his family moved to the area sixty (60) 

days ago and it had been a difficult process finding a home.   



City of La Grande 
City Council Minutes 
Regular Session of October 5, 2022 
Page 11 
 
 

S:\Manager's Office\MEETINGS\MINUTES\2022\COUNCIL\10-05-2022 Council Minutes.doc 

 

He expressed the need to find ways to increase entry 
barriers while also creating revenue streams and 
infrastructure in the City.  

 
 Anne MORRISON, Planning Commission Member, spoke in 

favor of the moratorium. She emphasized how the Planning 
Commission had not been able to address any other issues 
because of the number of BnB applications. One (1) BnB 
application took up their whole meeting session in 
September and there were already six (6) additional 
applications to be presented at their meeting on October 11, 
2022. The Planning Commission had been scheduling extra 
meetings, even meeting on Saturdays, to address other 
issues.  

 
 Roxie OGILVIE, Planning Commission Member, spoke in 

favor of the moratorium. She stated that she was a lifelong 
resident of La Grande and sought to be on the Planning 
Commission after she was notified of an Airbnb that was 
going to open across the street from her residence. After 
reviewing the full application for the Airbnb, she realized the 
implications it would have on her neighborhood. Due to the 
requirements, notification postcards were only sent to 
neighboring homes within one-hundred (100) feet of the 
proposed Airbnb. She would like to see a better way of 
informing residents when there was an application for an 
Airbnb in their neighborhood. OGILVIE expressed concern 
for marketing techniques that advertised houses as BnB’s 
without considering the residents or the buyers.  

 
 Speaking neutral to the moratorium, Kimberly ROSE voiced 

concern for the fact that a BnB host does not have to live in 
our area to buy a house and convert it. She noted other 
states have policies in place that would not allow that to 
happen. She expressed concern for the fact that anyone 
could build a new house with the intent of using it as a BnB, 
as that also took away housing from residents too. She 
stated La Grande needed more housing and the nice thing 
about BnB’s were they created a nice place for out of town 
visitors to stay.   

 
 Dustin ROSE, stated his mother, Kimberly, owns an Airbnb. 

He feels neutral on the situation due to his mom and him 
owning and operating an Airbnb. He expressed concern 
over the cost of buying a house in today’s market. He also 
suggested the Planning Commission make a change to the 
code so the Conditional Use Permits stay with the applicant, 
not the property the permit was issued for.  

 
COUNCIL DISCUSSION                           GLABE asked how much of a subset from the moratorium 

was going to impact the volume of applications the Planning 
Commission had been seeing, to which BOQUIST stated he 
did not see it obstructing their work moving forward. The 
moratorium would certainly take some pressure off. So far, 



City of La Grande 
City Council Minutes 
Regular Session of October 5, 2022 
Page 12 
 
 

S:\Manager's Office\MEETINGS\MINUTES\2022\COUNCIL\10-05-2022 Council Minutes.doc 

 

they had been getting a mix of applications for BnB’s, but 
the moratorium would put a pause on any non-owner 
operated applicants. A potential cause for the recent influx 
could be the fact that the moratorium was advertised in the 
paper and addressed at the Council Meeting in September.  

 
 MIESNER asked if the Planning Commission was unable to 

address other issues because of the increase in BnB 
applications, to which BOQUIST explained not at the 
moment. Other than code amendments, the only thing on 
the agenda was BnB applications.  

 
Mayor CLEMENTS announced that the Public Hearing was 
closed at 6:44 p.m. and entertained a motion. 
 
The following Motion was introduced by LILLARD; 
HOWARD providing the Second:  

  
MOTION MOTION: I move that the proposed Ordinance Declaring an 

Emergency and Establishing a Temporary Moratorium on 
Bed and Breakfast Inns be read for the Second Time by Title 
Only, Put to a Vote, and Adopted.  

 
COUNCIL DISCUSSION None 

 
Upon Mayor CLEMENTS’ request, Acting City Recorder 
STOCKHOFF read the proposed Ordinance by Title Only. 
 
AN ORDINANCE OF THE CITY COUNCIL OF THE CITY OF 
LA GRANDE, UNION COUNTY, OREGON, ESTABLISHING A 
TEMPORARY MORATORIUM ON BED AND BREAKFAST 
INNS; AND DECLARING AN EMERGENCY [3258] 

 
VOTE MSC: 6-1 (Yes: CLEMENTS, LILLARD, GLABE, HOWARD, 

MIESNER, and ROCK; No: BOZARTH) 
  
UNFINISHED BUSINESS None 
 
NEW BUSINESS 
a.    Consider: Resolution; Allocating  
       American Rescue Plan Act Funding  
       to Specific Projects 
 
STAFF REPORT     Mayor CLEMENTS requested the Staff Report. 
 
 Robert Strope, City Manager 

 
STROPE stated the City of La Grande received $3,023,872 
from the American Rescue Plan Act (ARPA) and elected the 
“standard allowance,” which allowed the City to consider 
the full amount as “Revenue Loss” and funds could be used 
for any governmental purpose.  All ARPA funds must be 
obligated not later than December 31, 2024, and expended 
by December 31, 2026. 



City of La Grande 
City Council Minutes 
Regular Session of October 5, 2022 
Page 13 
 
 

S:\Manager's Office\MEETINGS\MINUTES\2022\COUNCIL\10-05-2022 Council Minutes.doc 

 

 
STROPE noted on June 13, 2022, the City Council held a 
Work Session to review project proposals identified by City 
staff and tentatively prioritized the projects.  The City 
Council directed City staff to schedule a Virtual Town 
Hall/Work Session, to be held on September 14, 2022, to 
receive additional public input from the community 
regarding the proposed projects. 
 
STROPE mentioned at the September 14, 2022, Virtual Town 
Hall/Work Session, the Department Directors, again, 
presented the proposed projects and responded to 
questions from the City Council.  During the Work Session, 
the City Council reviewed public comments received prior to 
the Work Session, comments submitted online during the 
Work Session, and heard public comments from those in 
attendance to assist in reaching consensus on the final 
priority ranking. The City Council added projects submitted 
by the public to those presented by City staff prior to their 
discussions regarding funding allocations.   
 
STROPE explained that at the September 14, 2022, Virtual 
Town Hall/Work Session, the City Council reached 
consensus on a prioritized list of project funding based on 
input from staff and the public which included the Eastside 
Housing Water and Sewer Infrastructure Project, various 
Street Projects, and up to $250,000 of gap funding for water 
and sewer improvements at the Union County Fairgrounds, 
contingent upon the outcome of outstanding funding 
requests.  Further, the City Council indicated they would not 
consider any additional projects for ARPA funding with the 
intent that funding not expended on or allocated to the 
Eastside Housing Water and Sewer Infrastructure and Union 
County Fairgrounds shall be used to fund street projects 
until all ARPA funds were depleted. 
 
STROPE explained the proposed Resolution allocated the 
American Rescue Plan Act (ARPA) funds based on the 
consensus reached at the September 14, 2022, Work 
Session.  Upon passage, and assuming the priorities 
remained unchanged, Public Works would immediately 
begin the process to complete the design and prepare and 
publish the bid documents for the Eastside Housing Water 
and Sewer Infrastructure Project.  Additionally, Public 
Works would move forward with the process to complete 
the 16th and 12th Street projects.  The Council action item to 
establish the priority order for funding and completion of 
the remaining street projects would be on the November 
Regular Session agenda.   
 
STROPE noted the City Council was scheduled to meet with 
the Fair Board in a Work Session on October 24, 2022, to 
discuss the Fairground Water and Sewer Infrastructure 
Project but it was not anticipated that decisions regarding 
the $250,000 of gap funding would be included on the 



City of La Grande 
City Council Minutes 
Regular Session of October 5, 2022 
Page 14 
 
 

S:\Manager's Office\MEETINGS\MINUTES\2022\COUNCIL\10-05-2022 Council Minutes.doc 

 

Council’s November Regular Session agenda given the 
outside funding requests would still be in process.   

 
PUBLIC TESTIMONY                                          None 
 
COUNCIL DISCUSSION                           LILLARD expressed concern in supporting the Eastside 

Infrastructure Project based on current mortgage rates, 
supply chain issues, and labor shortages which make it 
difficult for contractors to proceed with projects. He voiced 
the Infrastructure Project seemed too high risk and 
speculative with the unknowns of whether developers were 
interested and what they might propose to do. He compared 
the situation to the infrastructure of the Business Park.  

 
 Mayor CLEMENTS commented he had recently reviewed the 

Housing Production Strategy and asked if there were funds 
the City has now to use, should a developer want to move 
forward with developing that area, to which STROPE stated 
the City could always use General Fund Revenues for any 
purpose. STROPE noted he would not advocate for using 
them for water and sewer. The City could take water and 
sewer reserves and put them towards that project, 
recognizing that those reserves were also one-time dollars. 
In terms of the water fund, the City would like to keep 
enough money in the bank in case a well goes out and a 
new one needed to be built.  Another option would be to 
create a Local Improvement District, funded with those 
water/sewer reserve funds, where the benefited property 
would be responsible for paying back that debt.  

 
 Mayor CLEMENTS commented on the fact that he advocated 

strongly for the Eastside Infrastructure Project because of 
the potential for development and that it would also bring 
back returns to the City. Subsequent to that, he noted 
interest rates had gone up considerably and existing home 
sells were dropping, making him question whether this 
project should still be considered.  

 
 BOZARTH spoke on how interest rates fluctuate over time 

and the current economic situation would most likely not 
last forever. He expressed the Eastside Infrastructure 
Project was an investment for our future and hearing 
comments from residents earlier tonight, stating there was a 
lack of homes within our community, he felt it would be very 
short-sided to not approve funds for that project.  

 
 LILLARD stated since these were one-time funds, he would 

like to see them used on something that the City could buy 
and will stay bought. There were too many unknowns with 
the infrastructure project.  

 
 ROCK noted there was limited land available in the City of 

La Grande for development and if the funds were not 



City of La Grande 
City Council Minutes 
Regular Session of October 5, 2022 
Page 15 
 
 

S:\Manager's Office\MEETINGS\MINUTES\2022\COUNCIL\10-05-2022 Council Minutes.doc 

 

allocated for these types of projects now, it could really 
affect our future.  

 
 HOWARD agreed that housing was needed within the City, 

but felt that she could not support allocating the funds to 
anywhere but the street projects. She noted residents of La 
Grande have been suffering under the adverse conditions of 
the City’s roads and this would benefit them sooner rather 
than later.  

 
 GLABE stated he would be happy if all of the funds went 

towards roads, but could not help but wonder if not moving 
forward with the Infrastructure Project would be a missed 
opportunity, due to the dire need for housing in our 
community.  

 
 A brief Council discussion took place regarding other 

options for funds that could help the Infrastructure Project if 
it did not get awarded ARPA funds.  

 
 LILLARD noted that in the twenty (20) years he had been a 

member of the Council, the thing most residents want to see 
improved was the roads.  

 
 GLABE commented that he would be in favor of removing 

the Fairground Project for funding consideration and 
putting those funds into road improvements.  

 
 STROPE clarified stipulations that would come forth if using 

funds from the water or sewer reserves to fund the 
Infrastructure Project. In response to Mayor CLEMENTS’ 
procedural question, STROPE noted the simplest way, 
would be to take each item, one at a time, and entertain a 
motion.  

 
 In response to MIESNER’s question in regards to putting 

aside funds for the Water and Sewer Infrastructure Project 
with the option to reevaluate where to obligate those funds 
in 2024, if no one steps forward to utilize that land to build 
upon, STROPE stated he would urge them not to do that. To 
get the project designed and engineered by the 2026 
deadline, the City would need to start expending money 
now.  Any money spent on design, the City would have to 
cover outside of ARPA funds, whether or not the project 
moved forward to build. STROPE explained in terms of 
capacity within that time frame to complete all of the street 
projects, the City would be able to complete them. Between 
Public Works and Contractors, he was very confident all of 
the ARPA funds could get spent on streets.  

 
 MIESNER stated she felt torn on where to award the ARPA 

funding, but felt the Fairground Water and Sewer Project 
should still be included in the discussion.  
 



City of La Grande 
City Council Minutes 
Regular Session of October 5, 2022 
Page 16 
 
 

S:\Manager's Office\MEETINGS\MINUTES\2022\COUNCIL\10-05-2022 Council Minutes.doc 

 

The following Motion was introduced by HOWARD; 
LILLARD providing the Second:  

  
MOTION MOTION: I move that the proposed Resolution allocating 

American Rescue Plan Act funding to exclusively be used 
for road projects be read by Title Only, Put to a Vote, and 
Passed. 

 
COUNCIL DISCUSSION                           STROPE explained that if this motion was successful, the 

Resolution would be revised to simply allocate all of the 
funds to roads. Staff would immediately start work on the 
design piece for 12th and 16th Streets and present the 
Council with a prioritized list of roads being recommended 
at the November 2, 2022, Regular Session City Council 
Meeting.  

 
 GLABE stated that he was struggling with his vote, and if 

there was a developer already interested in the Eastside 
Infrastructure Project, it would be an easy decision. The 
complicated part was that there were about six (6) different 
owners within that area and a lot could happen that the City 
would not have control over.  

 
 ROCK stated he would vote in opposition, not because he 

does not want the infrastructure, but because he would like 
to see funds go towards the Fairground Project and the 
remaining funds be spent on street and road repairs.  

 
 LILLARD asked how much of the funds were being 

discussed for the Fairground Project, to which STROPE 
stated two-hundred fifty thousand dollars ($250,000), 
contingent on other funding requests submitted by the Fair 
Board.  

 
 HOWARD asked if that was a friendly amendment to the 

original Motion, to which ROCK stated yes. HOWARD noted 
she would accept that amendment to her Motion.    

 
 Mayor CLEMENTS clarified that Councilor ROCK supported 

funds being put towards the Fairground Project.  
 
 STROPE informed the Councilors that whomever made the 

Second on the Motion would have to amend it, to which 
LILLARD agreed that he would amend.  

 
 GLABE expressed that while he agreed the Fairgrounds 

needed restrooms, and since they might be able to get the 
funding elsewhere, he would oppose including them in 
receiving any ARPA funds.  

 
 ROCK mentioned he pushed for the Fairgrounds because of 

tourism. He believed by supplying the Fairgrounds with the 
water and sewer infrastructure, it would help attract more 



City of La Grande 
City Council Minutes 
Regular Session of October 5, 2022 
Page 17 
 
 

S:\Manager's Office\MEETINGS\MINUTES\2022\COUNCIL\10-05-2022 Council Minutes.doc 

 

people into our community and the City would benefit from 
the incoming tourism. 

 
 STROPE explained that the amended Motion would be for 

the $2 million dollars (plus), more or less, allotted for roads 
and two-hundred fifty thousand dollars ($250,000) reserved 
as gap funding for the Fair.  

 
 Mayor CLEMENTS voiced he would agree with Councilor 

GLABE on not awarding any funds to the Fairground 
Project.  

 
 In response to MIESNER’s question, ROCK clarified that he 

wanted to help the Fairgrounds out by including that 
allocation in the Motion, but he was not sure how it worked 
if they do not get the money from the other sources.  

 
 STROPE explained how the proposed Resolution was 

currently structured, so that two-hundred fifty thousand 
dollars ($250,000) was reserved for the Fairgrounds and the 
Council would have to approve those funds at a later date. If 
that remained in the Resolution, and the Resolution passed, 
as well as after the Work Session with the Fair Board, the 
Council would then decide to either give the Fair Board that 
money to help with their project or to deny them of those 
funds.  

 
 A Council discussion took place regarding ARPA funding 

being reserved for the Fairgrounds. 
 
 STROPE explained that with the amended Motion and the 

amended Second, the way the Resolution would be 
approved was by removing the $1.5 million dollars 
($1,500,000.00) for the Eastside Infrastructure Project and to 
add those funds towards the streets. The Fairground Project 
would remain as-is.  

 
 STROPE read the paragraph in the Resolution regarding the 

Fairground Project.  
 
 Mayor CLEMENTS commented that if other organizations, 

who might award the Fairgrounds some funding for their 
project, might not give them the amount they were asking 
for if they see that the City of La Grande had a Resolution 
stating that two-hundred fifty thousand dollars ($250,000) 
was reserved for them in lieu of other funding.  

 
Mayor CLEMENTS asked for a Roll Call vote on the 
amended motion. 

  
 A RESOLUTION OF THE CITY COUNCIL OF THE CITY OF LA 

GRANDE, UNION COUNTY, OREGON, ALLOCATING 
AMERICAN RESCUE PLAN ACT FUNDING TO SPECIFIC 
PROJECTS [4827] 



City of La Grande 
City Council Minutes 
Regular Session of October 5, 2022 
Page 18 
 
 

S:\Manager's Office\MEETINGS\MINUTES\2022\COUNCIL\10-05-2022 Council Minutes.doc 

 

        
VOTE MSC: 4-3 (Yes: LILLARD, HOWARD, MIESNER, and ROCK; 

No: CLEMENTS, BOZARTH and GLABE) 
 
 Mayor CLEMENTS commented he was proud of how the 

Council handled the discussion and even though everyone 
may not have agreed on the outcome, he had a lot of 
respect for what they did.  

        
UNION COUNTY COMMISSIONER UPDATE Commissioner Matt SCARFO stated the Election Ballots 

would be mailed on October 19, 2022. He mentioned Eastern 
Oregon University’s homecoming weekend was October 21, 
2022 to October 22, 2022. He reminded everyone of the 
Broadband survey that was sent out in the mail.  The 
Federal Government was issuing one billion dollars to 
support broadband needs. There was a website 
(www.fasterinternetoregon.org) and a phone number (541-
426-7500) to participate in the survey.  

 
Once people access the website or call in by phone, Mayor 
CLEMENTS asked if the data supplied would help to create a 
map of internet speed connections around the County, to 
which SCARFO noted yes.   

 
STAFF COMMENTS  CARPENTER mentioned the Community Wide leaf pickup 

was taking place in November. He also noted the snow 
plows were getting prepped for Winter.  

 
 CARPENTER was anticipating the Grind and Inlay Project on 

Gekeler Street would begin towards the end of October and 
it should be finished before snowfall.  

 
 BELL announced that on Saturday, October 29, 2022, was 

Drug Take-Back Day. It was from 10:00 a.m. to 2:00 p.m. at 
Safeway in La Grande.  

 
 BISHOP congratulated Councilor MIESNER on receiving the 

Oregon Main Street Leadership Award.  
 

MIESNER voiced that she also accepted the Outstanding 
Project Award on behalf of Brickyard Lanes and shared that 
The Local won an Award for the Adaptive Re-use of a 
Building.  

  
CITY MANAGER COMMENTS STROPE updated the Council on the ARPA Resolution 

revised language, stating the Street Project amount would 
now equal two million seven-hundred and seventy-three 
thousand and eight hundred seventy-two ($2,773,872) 
dollars. He expressed his appreciation for the work the 
Council put in trying to figure out the best way to use these 
dollars for the community. He stated that a priority order list 
of the street projects would be presented to the Council for 
consideration at the November 2, 2022, Regular Session 
City Council Meeting.  



City of La Grande 
City Council Minutes 
Regular Session of October 5, 2022 
Page 19 
 
 

S:\Manager's Office\MEETINGS\MINUTES\2022\COUNCIL\10-05-2022 Council Minutes.doc 

 

 
CITY COUNCIL COMMENTS LILLARD noted he attended a Senior Council Meeting on 

Wednesday, September 28, 2022. He brought them up to 
speed on the ARPA discussion and the BnB moratorium. He 
stated most attendees were in favor of the moratorium and 
funding the street projects.  

  
HOWARD thanked the Planning Commission for how much 
work they had been doing and the extra time they had 
dedicated. 
 
Mayor CLEMENTS read a Proclamation for Extra Mile Day 
and proclaimed November 1, 2022, as Extra Mile Day in La 
Grande. He urged each person in the community to take 
time on this day to not only go the extra mile, but to also 
acknowledge all those who are inspirational in their efforts 
and commitment to their organization, family, community, 
and county. 
 
Mayor CLEMENTS noted that since Measure 110 had passed 
in 2020, and went into effect February, 1st 2021, it pretty 
much legalized any drug. He stated money should be 
coming in from State services to help people who may need 
to seek treatment. He voiced, in his opinion, the whole 
Measure had been a mess for a lot of reasons. He asked 
Chief BELL to give a brief summary on some of the impacts 
Measure 110 has had on the community. He stated this 
request was inspired by an email he received regarding a 
letter that the City of Ontario’s City Council wrote and sent 
to the Governor of Oregon.  
 
BELL stated that since February 2021, the agency and 
public safety within our community had been impacted by 
Measure 110. He clarified there had not been any 
legalization of drugs, but use or possession had been 
decriminalized. He shared an example of how fentanyl has 
been disguised and distributed in communities to appeal to 
children and young adults.  He noted how when he started 
serving our community as a Police Officer in the nineteen 
nineties and that the prevalence of drugs was greater today 
than throughout his nearly thirty (30) year career as a Police 
Officer.  
 
BELL explained data suggested that Oregon was amongst 
the highest in addiction rates and amongst the worst for 
accessible treatment. Measure 110 promised certain results 
but BELL’s opinion was that Measure 110 has only proven 
to be flawed.  Measure 110 has almost been in effect for two 
(2) years and not a lot had changed in regards to available 
treatment options. The only change he had seen was more 
people who were addicted to drugs, overdosing, and dying.  
 
BELL noted how behavioral health issues and substance 
abuse had been stressing the resources within our 



City of La Grande 
City Council Minutes 
Regular Session of October 5, 2022 
Page 20 
 
 

S:\Manager's Office\MEETINGS\MINUTES\2022\COUNCIL\10-05-2022 Council Minutes.doc 

 

community. He expressed concern for how our state and 
community members have been negatively impacted by 
Measure 110.  He provided an example that someone could 
have 39 fentanyl pills in their possession before it became a 
criminal offense and if someone were to have more than the 
legal amount in their possession, it would result in a 
citation, one-hundred (100) dollar bail, and the violator was 
only provided a card with a number they could call with 
information on treatment options or they could choose to go 
to court.  He noted locally and statewide people were not 
choosing to go to court, so nothing happens.  
 
BELL stated that the crimes and penalties associated with 
the distribution and manufacturing of drugs still exist; 
however, the mechanism to investigate and enforce those 
crimes had diminished.  
 
A discussion was held in regards to writing a similar letter 
to address local concern for Measure 110 to send to the 
Governor and Gubernatorial Candidates, to which it was 
agreed that Mayor CLEMENTS and Chief BELL would work 
on the letter together and present the letter for City Council 
approval at the November 2, 2022, Regular Session City 
Council meeting.   
 
Mayor CLEMENTS addressed a rumor in regards to his 
authority as Mayor and reminded everyone that he does not 
have the authority to tell someone what they can or cannot 
do with a piece of property, that would only be the La 
Grande Planning Department.  Every piece of property was 
zoned a particular way and there was a process one would 
have to go through if they desired to use a property for a 
different purpose then what it was zoned for. 
 

 
There being no further business to come before this Regular Session of the Council, Mayor CLEMENTS 
adjourned the meeting to the Urban Renewal Agency Regular Session at 7:50 p.m.   The Council is scheduled to 
meet again in Regular Session on Wednesday, November 2, 2022, at 6:00 p.m., in the Council Chambers of City 
Hall, 1000 Adams Avenue, La Grande, Oregon.  
 
 
 
_________________________________________  ____________________________________________ 
Kayla A. Brainerd  Stephen E. Clements 
Assistant to the City Manager  Mayor 
 
 
APPROVED:  ______________________________ 



S:\Manager's Office\MEETINGS\CAFs\2022\COUNCIL\11-02-2022\3.b. - CAF FINAL - Authoring CM to sign Lease Agreement Renewal for Sac Annex Parking Lot.doc 

Agenda Item 3.b. 
Office Use Only 

CITY of LA GRANDE 

 
COUNCIL ACTION FORM 

 
Council Meeting Date:  November 2, 2022 

 
PRESENTER:  Robert Strope, City Manager 

 
COUNCIL ACTION:  CONSIDER AUTHORIZING THE CITY MANAGER TO SIGN LEASE 

AGREEMENT RENEWAL; SAC ANNEX PARKING LOT, 2022- 2027  
 
 1.  MAYOR: Request Staff Report 
 
 2.  MAYOR: Invite Public Comments 
 

 3.  MAYOR: Invite Council Discussion 
 
 4.  MAYOR: Entertain Motion 
 
  Suggested Motion:  I move that the City Manager be authorized 

to sign the renewal of the Parking Lot Lease Agreement with Sac 
Annex LLC, as presented. 

 
 5.  MAYOR: Invite Additional Council Discussion 
  
 6.  MAYOR: Ask for the Vote 
  
********************************************************************************************************************************* 
EXPLANATION:  The City and Sac Annex LLC have had a reciprocal parking agreement for a number of 
years for spaces in the Fir Street and Washington Avenue parking lot.  Under the agreement, the parking area 
owned by the Sac Annex, LLC is available for public parking.  The current lease expired on June 30, 2021, and 
the manager of the property indicated a desire to renew the agreement without any changes.  Attached is the new 
lease through June 30, 2027, no provisions of the agreement have changed.   
 
The City Manager recommends that the Council ratify his action to sign the agreement. 
 
 
 
 
 
 
********************************************************************************************************************************* 
Reviewed By: (Initial)        COUNCIL ACTION  (Office Use Only) 
City Manager  _____  Human Resources Dept _____   
City Recorder  _____  Library   _____   Motion Passed 
Aquatics Division  _____  Parks Department  _____   Motion Failed;     
Building Department _____ Planning Department _____   Action Tabled:     
ED Department _____ Police Department _____ Vote:      
Finance   _____  Public Works Department _____   
Fire Department   _____        Resolution Passed 
  Effective Date:     
 
           Ordinance Adopted  
  First Reading:     
  Second Reading:    
 Effective Date:     
 



CITY OF LA GRANDE 

L E A S E 

This Lease, made this SecondFirst (2nd1st) Day of NovemberJuly, 202216, by and between the City 

of La Grande, Oregon, 1000 Adams Avenue, P.O. Box 670, La Grande, Oregon, 97850 (hereinafter 

“City”), and Sac Annex Building LLC, 105 Fir Street, La Grande, OR 97850 (hereinafter “Sac Annex”).  

 
W I T N E S S E T H 

 
City, in consideration of and under the terms, covenants and conditions hereinafter set forth, hereby 
leases and grants to Sac Annex the premises described as follows: 
 

A tract of land described as beginning at the most easterly corner of Lot 10, Block 107, 
Chaplin’s Addition to La Grande, Union County, Oregon, according to the recorded plat 
thereof, thence North 48 20’ West 88.7 Feet; thence South 41 40’ West 50.0 Feet; thence 
South 48 20’ East 28.7 Feet; thence North 41 40’ East 13.9 Feet; thence South 48 20’ East 60 
Feet; thence North 41 40’ East 36.1 Feet, to the point of beginning.  

 
Sac Annex, in consideration of and under the terms, covenants and conditions hereinafter set forth, 
hereby leases and grants to City the premises described as follows: 
 

A tract of land described as beginning at the most southerly corner of Block 107, Chaplin’s 
Addition to La Grande, Union County, Oregon, according to the recorded plat thereof, 
thence North 41 40’ East 60.0 Feet; thence North 48 20’ West 60.0 Feet; thence South 41 40’ 
West 60.0 Feet; thence South 48 20’ East 60.0 Feet, to the point of beginning.  

 
TERM:  This Lease shall commence on the SecondFirst (2nd1st) Day of NovemberJuly, 202216, and 
shall continue until June 30, 20271 or until a new Lease is negotiated.  Either party may terminate 
this Lease at any time and for any reason, upon ninety (90) days’ notice to the other party. 
 
COMPLIANCE WITH LAW:  Both parties agree that they will, at their own expense, promptly observe 
and comply with all present and future laws, orders, regulations, rules, Ordinance, and 
requirements of Federal, State, County, and City governments with respect to the use, care and 
control of the premises leased.  
 
REPRESENTATIONS:  Each party acknowledges that they have accepted this Lease and executed 
it on the basis of their own examination and personal knowledge of the value, condition, or repair 
of such premises leased and that no representation as to the value, condition or repair of said 
premises has been made by the Lessors or their agents.  Both parties acknowledge that the rent 
paid for each piece of property is the use by each party of the others’ real property.  Each party 
acknowledges that the person executing this Lease on behalf of the party herein is authorized to 
act on behalf of the entity and is acting with full knowledge and authority of that party.  
 
RETURN OF PREMISES:  Upon the expiration of this Lease, unless extended or its termination for 
any cause, each party agrees to surrender the premises leased in as good order as when received 
and improved. Reasonable wear and tear, damage frorm the elements, fire, acts of God or other 
casualty are expected. 
 
INJURY TO PROPERTY OR PERSON:  Each party shall be responsible for the condition of the 
premises during the term of this Lease and any damage or injury to property or person resulting 
from the condition of said premises or sidewalk or the activities of the Lessess, their agents and 
employees thereon, or any independent contractor hired, and each agrees to indemnify the other 
as a named insured on its liability policy.  
 



INSURANCE AND TAXES:  Each party shall ensure its own property.  The City shall pay real estate 
taxes and assessments on both properties.  This Lease agreement reflects a savings on behalf of 
the City as a result of City having filed for an exemption from property taxes. Should the City not 
qualify for said exemption, the City shall assume full financial responsibility for said property taxes.  
 
QUIET ENJOYMENT:  Each party covenants that the other, on entry into the premises leased and 
performance of each of the terms of this Lease on their part to be performed, shall have full freedom 
and use of said premises in accordance with the terms thereof and quietly enjoy the same without 
lawful claim on the part of any person.  
 
CONDITIONS:  If, with respect to the property leased to it, either party fails to perform any of the 
covenants herein or files a petition in bankruptcy or is declared bankrupt or insolvent according to 
law or makes an assignment for the benefit of its creditors or if the leasehold estate is taken on 
execution, then at the option of the Lessor thereof, this Lease shall, with respect to the property 
leased to it, terminate, and the Lessor thereof, without notice or demand, may re-enter the premises 
and remove all persons and effects without prejudice to any remedy which might otherwise be used 
for breach of the covenants hereof. 
 
HOLDING OVER:  Holding over by either party after the expiration of the term of this Lease or the 
term of any extension thereof shall be as tenancy from month to month and not otherwise. 
 
TITLE:  Each party covenants that they have good title to the premises leased by them. 
 
INTERPRETATION:  All of the covenants, agreements, conditions and terms contained in this Lease 
shall be binding upon, apply and inure to the benefit of the successors in interest of each parties 
hereto, and all of said covenants shall be construed as covenants running with the land. 
 
WAIVER:  Failure of either party hereto to insist upon the strict performance of the terms, covenants, 
agreement and conditions in the Lease contained, or any of them, shall not constitute or be 
construed as a waiver or relinquishment of rights to hereafter enforce such term, covenant, 
agreement, or condition, but the same shall continue in full force and effect.  
 
IN WITNESS WHEREOF, the City Manager of City of La Grande, Oregon, a municipal corporation, is 
vested with the authority to execute this Lease and to cause this Lease to be attested by the City 
Recorder of the City of La Grande, Oregon, and the City’s corporate Seal to be hereunto affixed.  
 
 
CITY OF LA GRANDE      SAC ANNEX BUILDING LLC 
 
 
By:  ___________________________    By: ___________________________ 
        Robert A. Strope                        Chris Dunn 
        City Manager                        Managing Member 
 
 
Date: ___________________________    Date: __________________________ 
 
 
 
ATTEST: 
 
 
_________________________________ 
Angelika N. BrooksStacey M. Stockhoff 
Acting City Recorder 
 
 
Date:  __________________________ 



CITY OF LA GRANDE 

L E A S E 

This Lease, made this Second (2nd) Day of November, 2022, by and between the City of La Grande, 

Oregon, 1000 Adams Avenue, P.O. Box 670, La Grande, Oregon, 97850 (hereinafter “City”), and Sac 

Annex Building LLC, 105 Fir Street, La Grande, OR 97850 (hereinafter “Sac Annex”).  

 
W I T N E S S E T H 

 
City, in consideration of and under the terms, covenants and conditions hereinafter set forth, hereby 
leases and grants to Sac Annex the premises described as follows: 
 

A tract of land described as beginning at the most easterly corner of Lot 10, Block 107, 
Chaplin’s Addition to La Grande, Union County, Oregon, according to the recorded plat 
thereof, thence North 48 20’ West 88.7 Feet; thence South 41 40’ West 50.0 Feet; thence 
South 48 20’ East 28.7 Feet; thence North 41 40’ East 13.9 Feet; thence South 48 20’ East 60 
Feet; thence North 41 40’ East 36.1 Feet, to the point of beginning.  

 
Sac Annex, in consideration of and under the terms, covenants and conditions hereinafter set forth, 
hereby leases and grants to City the premises described as follows: 
 

A tract of land described as beginning at the most southerly corner of Block 107, Chaplin’s 
Addition to La Grande, Union County, Oregon, according to the recorded plat thereof, 
thence North 41 40’ East 60.0 Feet; thence North 48 20’ West 60.0 Feet; thence South 41 40’ 
West 60.0 Feet; thence South 48 20’ East 60.0 Feet, to the point of beginning.  

 
TERM:  This Lease shall commence on the Second (2nd) Day of November, 2022, and shall continue 
until June 30, 2027 or until a new Lease is negotiated.  Either party may terminate this Lease at any 
time and for any reason, upon ninety (90) days’ notice to the other party. 
 
COMPLIANCE WITH LAW:  Both parties agree that they will, at their own expense, promptly observe 
and comply with all present and future laws, orders, regulations, rules, Ordinance, and 
requirements of Federal, State, County, and City governments with respect to the use, care and 
control of the premises leased.  
 
REPRESENTATIONS:  Each party acknowledges that they have accepted this Lease and executed 
it on the basis of their own examination and personal knowledge of the value, condition, or repair 
of such premises leased and that no representation as to the value, condition or repair of said 
premises has been made by the Lessors or their agents.  Both parties acknowledge that the rent 
paid for each piece of property is the use by each party of the others’ real property.  Each party 
acknowledges that the person executing this Lease on behalf of the party herein is authorized to 
act on behalf of the entity and is acting with full knowledge and authority of that party.  
 
RETURN OF PREMISES:  Upon the expiration of this Lease, unless extended or its termination for 
any cause, each party agrees to surrender the premises leased in as good order as when received 
and improved. Reasonable wear and tear, damage from the elements, fire, acts of God or other 
casualty are expected. 
 
INJURY TO PROPERTY OR PERSON:  Each party shall be responsible for the condition of the 
premises during the term of this Lease and any damage or injury to property or person resulting 
from the condition of said premises or sidewalk or the activities of the Lessess, their agents and 
employees thereon, or any independent contractor hired, and each agrees to indemnify the other 
as a named insured on its liability policy.  
 



INSURANCE AND TAXES:  Each party shall ensure its own property.  The City shall pay real estate 
taxes and assessments on both properties.  This Lease agreement reflects a savings on behalf of 
the City as a result of City having filed for an exemption from property taxes. Should the City not 
qualify for said exemption, the City shall assume full financial responsibility for said property taxes.  
 
QUIET ENJOYMENT:  Each party covenants that the other, on entry into the premises leased and 
performance of each of the terms of this Lease on their part to be performed, shall have full freedom 
and use of said premises in accordance with the terms thereof and quietly enjoy the same without 
lawful claim on the part of any person.  
 
CONDITIONS:  If, with respect to the property leased to it, either party fails to perform any of the 
covenants herein or files a petition in bankruptcy or is declared bankrupt or insolvent according to 
law or makes an assignment for the benefit of its creditors or if the leasehold estate is taken on 
execution, then at the option of the Lessor thereof, this Lease shall, with respect to the property 
leased to it, terminate, and the Lessor thereof, without notice or demand, may re-enter the premises 
and remove all persons and effects without prejudice to any remedy which might otherwise be used 
for breach of the covenants hereof. 
 
HOLDING OVER:  Holding over by either party after the expiration of the term of this Lease or the 
term of any extension thereof shall be as tenancy from month to month and not otherwise. 
 
TITLE:  Each party covenants that they have good title to the premises leased by them. 
 
INTERPRETATION:  All of the covenants, agreements, conditions and terms contained in this Lease 
shall be binding upon, apply and inure to the benefit of the successors in interest of each parties 
hereto, and all of said covenants shall be construed as covenants running with the land. 
 
WAIVER:  Failure of either party hereto to insist upon the strict performance of the terms, covenants, 
agreement and conditions in the Lease contained, or any of them, shall not constitute or be 
construed as a waiver or relinquishment of rights to hereafter enforce such term, covenant, 
agreement, or condition, but the same shall continue in full force and effect.  
 
IN WITNESS WHEREOF, the City Manager of City of La Grande, Oregon, a municipal corporation, is 
vested with the authority to execute this Lease and to cause this Lease to be attested by the City 
Recorder of the City of La Grande, Oregon, and the City’s corporate Seal to be hereunto affixed.  
 
 
CITY OF LA GRANDE      SAC ANNEX BUILDING LLC 
 
 
By:  ___________________________    By: ___________________________ 
        Robert A. Strope                        Chris Dunn 
        City Manager                        Managing Member 
 
 
Date: ___________________________    Date: __________________________ 
 
 
 
ATTEST: 
 
 
_________________________________ 
Stacey M. Stockhoff 
Acting City Recorder 
 
 
Date:  __________________________ 



Agenda Item. 5.a. 
Office Use Only 

CITY of LA GRANDE 
 

COUNCIL ACTION FORM 
 

Council Meeting Date:  November 2, 2022 

 

PRESENTER: Michael Boquist, Community Development Director 
 

COUNCIL ACTION: CONSIDER APPEAL OF PLANNING COMMISSION DECISION: CONDITIONAL 
USE PERMIT, FILE NUMBERS 01-PCA-22 AND 11-CUP-22 

 
1. MAYOR: Open the Public Hearing and ask the City Recorder to read the 

Rules of Order in their entirety. 
 
2. MAYOR: Request Staff Report 
 
3. MAYOR: Invite Public Testimony from the Applicant, followed by those in 

Favor, in Opposition, Neutral to the proposed Ordinance and then 
Rebuttal Testimony. 

 
4. MAYOR: Invite Council Discussion 
 
5. MAYOR: Close the Public Hearing and Entertain a Motion: 

 
SUGGESTED MOTION 1: (Affirm the Planning Commission Decision) 
I move that the Finding of Fact and Conclusions set forth in the 
Draft Decision Order be (adopted / amended) and that the 
Planning Commission Decision be upheld, resulting in the 
Conditional Use Permit being denied. 
 
OR 
 
SUGGESTED MOTION 2: (Reverse the Planning Commission Decision) 
I move that the Finding of Fact and Conclusions set forth in the 
Draft Decision Order be amended and that the Planning 
Commission Decision be reversed, resulting in the Conditional Use 
Permit being approved. 
 

6. MAYOR: Invite Additional Council Discussion 
 
7. MAYOR: Ask for the Vote 

 
********************************************************************************************************************************** 

EXPLANATION:  The Appellant is appealing the Planning Commission decision, denying Conditional Use Permit 

application, File Number 11-CUP-22, to expand an existing Conditional Use Permit, File Number 08-CUP-21.  Such 
expansion will add a second Bed and Breakfast Inn (BnB) on the owner’s property. 
 
In July, 2021, the property owner received approval of their first BnB Conditional Use Permit from the Planning 
Commission to rent the main dwelling (a one-bedroom home).  In August, 2022, the property owner submitted a 
Conditional Use Permit request to expand the BnB business on the property to operate a second one-bedroom BnB 
rental unit.  If approved, the owner will improve the rear of the detached garage and the upper floor to establish the 
second BnB unit. 
 
During the September, 2022, Planning Commission Public Hearing, the Commission heard testimony from the 
adjacent neighbor to the East, in opposition to the BnB.  The neighbor cited privacy, safety and other neighborhood 
conflicts that they are experiencing with the existing BnB on this property and one located directly across Y Avenue.  
The neighbor stated such impacts are anticipated to increase as a result of approving a second BnB on the 
applicant’s property.  In addition to the neighbor’s written and oral testimony at the Public Hearing, the Planning 
Commission received testimony in support of the proposed BnB expansion from other residents in the neighborhood.  





RULES OF ORDER FOR A PUBLIC HEARING 
 
 
The following is a step-by-step description of the order of events necessary to hold a Public Hearing. 
 
CITY RECORDER READS TO THE PUBLIC: 
 
A.  The City Council will conduct one (1) Quasi-Judicial Public Hearing.  These Rules of Order are applicable to the 

Public Hearing to consider an Appeal of a Planning Commission Decision, File Number 01-PCA-22, Applicant:  
Kimberly Rose. 

 
B.  The Hearing will proceed as follows: 
 

1. The Mayor will request the Staff Report, which includes applicable criteria and standards for the issues 
under consideration in the application. 

 
2. Subsequent to opening the Public Hearing, the Mayor will accept testimony relating to the application.  The 

Mayor may state a time limit for testimony.  All testimony must be directed toward the applicable criteria.  
Oregon Land Use Law requires that all issues raised by a participant during the Hearing must be sufficiently 
clear and specific to allow the hearing body and other parties an opportunity to respond to those issues.  
Failure to raise the issues during the Hearing may invalidate future appeal. 

 
3. The proceedings are being electronically recorded, to be transcribed in written Minutes.  When testifying, 

please step to the podium and state your name. Before leaving the podium, please complete the speaker 
sign-in sheet.  

 
4. The applicant will be invited to speak first, followed by proponents, then by opponents, and then by any 

parties neutral to the application.  An opportunity will be provided to parties to clarify any issues raised or 
to rebut testimony.  Proponents, then opponents, will be provided an opportunity to clarify any issues or to 
rebut testimony. 

 
5. If additional documents or new evidence is introduced during the Hearing, any participant may request a 

continuation of the Hearing.  Any participant may request that the Hearing Record be kept open for seven 
(7) days to submit additional written evidence or testimony for the purpose of responding to new evidence.  
Unless waived, the applicant has seven (7) days to submit a written response. 

 
6. Members of the City Council may ask questions of the Staff or Hearing participants at any time.  The Mayor 

may then close the Hearing or continue the Hearing at a specified time and place. 
 
7. All decisions must be based on findings of fact from the Staff Report or evidence and testimony received 

which relate to the criteria of the land use decision. 
 
8. An appeal of the City Council decision must be made in writing to the Oregon Land Use Board of Appeals, 

together with the required fee, within twenty-one (21) days from the date that the final decision is mailed to 
the applicant and interested participants. 

 
C. A Councilor must declare any ex parte or pre-hearing contact, including the person’s name and the nature of 

the discussion, as well as any site visitations to the area in question.  Councilors should declare any personal 
or financial interests in this matter and may disqualify themselves from participation in the Hearing.  Does any 
Councilor wish to make a declaration? 

 
D. Does anyone in the audience wish to challenge the right of any Councilor to hear this matter?  Let the Record 

show that (there are no challenges) OR ___________________________. 
 
 



 
 
 
 

COMMUNITY DEVELOPMENT DEPARTMENT / PLANNING DIVISION  ▪  P.O. Box 670  ▪  1000 Adams Avenue  ▪  La Grande, OR  97850 
Phone: (541) 962-1307  ▪  Fax: (541) 963-3333  ▪  Web: www.cityoflagrande.org 

CITY COUNCIL 
DECISION ORDER OF _________ 

 

 

HEARING BODY(IES): City Council (Final Decision) 

HEARING DATE(S): Wednesday, November 2, 2022 

HEARING TIME(S): 6:00 p.m. 

HEARING LOCATION: City Hall Council Chambers, located at 1000 Adams Avenue, La Grande, 
Oregon. 

 

I. Application Information 

File Number:  01-PCA-22 (Appeal of Planning Commission Decision) 

Proposal: The applicant has filed an appeal of the Planning Commission’s decision, 
denying Conditional Use Permit, File Number 11-CUP-22, which 
requested approval to expand an existing Conditional Use Permit, file 
number 08-CUP-21.  If approved, such expansion would add a second 
Bed and Breakfast Inn (BnB) on the owner’s property. 

Applicant: Kimberly Rose 

Address/Location: 1502 Y Avenue, T3S, R38E, Section 05BD, Tax Lot 5800 
Union County Ref. #687 

Decision Order Prepared By: Michael J. Boquist, Community Development Director 

  



Decision Order – File No. 01-PCA-22 November 2, 2022 Page 2 of 18 
(Appeal of Decision on File No. 11-CUP-22) 

 

II. Schedule of Procedural and Public Hearing Requirements 

In accordance with Land Development Code Ordinance 3252, Series 2021, Articles 9.3 and 9.4, 
Conditional Use Permit Applications are subject to the Planning Commission’s review and decision 
authority.  Appeals of a Planning Commission decision is subject to the City Council’s review and 
decision authority.   In accordance with Article 9.5, public hearings for the consideration of the 
proposal were scheduled as follows: 

August 12, 2022 Conditional Use Permit Application received and deemed 
complete. 

August 15, 2022 Public notice mailed to surrounding property owners within 100’ 
and development review agencies. 

September 3, 2022 Advertised notice was published in The Observer, advertising the 
Public Hearing before the Planning Commission for September 
13, 2022. 

September 13, 2022 Public Hearing before the Planning Commission. 

September 15, 2022 Planning Commission decision mailed to applicant and other 
parties. 

September 27, 2022 Expiration of 12-day appeal period to City Council. 

 

September 26, 2022  Application for Appeal received. 

September 27, 2022  Additional information was submitted by Applicant.  Application 
was deemed complete. 

October 7, 2022 Public notice mailed to surrounding property owners within 100’ 
and development review agencies. 

October 20, 2022 Advertised notice was published in The Observer, advertising the 
Public Hearing before the City Council for November 2, 2022. 

November 2, 2022 Public Hearing before the City Council. 

November 4, 2022 City Council decision mailed to applicant and other parties. 

November 25, 2022 Expiration of 21-day appeal period to the Oregon Land Use 
Board of Appeals (LUBA). 

 

 

III. Public Notice Information 

Public notice was issued in accordance with City and State laws.  Notice was provided in 
accordance with Land Development Code Ordinance 3252, Series 2021, Article 9.6, Section 
9.6.001(B).  Notice of all Public Hearings were published in the local newspaper of general 
circulation, with mailed notice provided to the applicant and to the owners of record of property 
located within one hundred feet (100’) of the subject property.  Additionally, all Public Hearing 
materials, including the Draft Decision Order was published on the City of La Grande – Planning 
Division’s webpage. 

 

  

P
la

nn
in

g 
C

om
m

is
si

on
 P

ro
ce

ss
 

C
ity

 C
ou

nc
il 

P
ro

ce
ss

 



Decision Order – File No. 01-PCA-22 November 2, 2022 Page 3 of 18 
(Appeal of Decision on File No. 11-CUP-22) 

 

IV. Review Process and Appeals 

A Conditional Use Permit is a quasi-judicial land use action that is subject to the Planning 
Commission’s review and approval.  The Planning Commission’s review includes a Public Hearing 
where testimony is accepted from interested persons and which results in a decision being issued 
in accordance with Chapter 9 of Land Development Code Ordinance 3252, Series 2021.   

A decision of the Planning Commission is final unless appealed to the City Council within twelve 
(12) days from the date the Planning Commission decision is mailed to the applicant. 

A decision of the City Council is final unless appealed to the Oregon Land Use Board of Appeals 
(LUBA) within twenty-one (21) days from the date the City Council decision is mailed to the 
applicant. 

 

V. LDC Section 9.7.004 – Initiation of Appeal 

A decision of a review authority pursuant to Chapter 8 shall be appealed by a party with standing 
within the time limits prescribed in Chapter 9 of this Code.  The filing of a Notice of Appeal shall be 
accompanied by the fee prescribed by Resolution of the City Council.  The Notice of Appeal shall 
be submitted upon the form provided by the Community Development Department/Planning 
Division, shall include any such information as listed on the application submittal checklist and 
contain the following: 

 
A. A concise description of the land use decision sought to be reviewed, including the date of 

decision. 
 

Recommended City Council Finding:  The applicant is being represented by legal 
Counsel, D. Zachary Hostetter, Hostetter Law Group, LLP.  Mr. Hostetter submitted a letter 
addressing the appeal, states that this request was appealing the Planning Commission’s 
decision to deny Conditional Use Permit, File Number 11-CUP-22.  The Planning 
Commission Hearing was held on September 14, 2022, at which time a decision was 
issued.  This standard is met. 

 
B. A statement of the interest of the appellant seeking review and, that the appellant was a party 

to the initial proceedings. 
 

Recommended City Council Finding:  The applicant and their legal Counsel, D. Zachary 
Hostetter, Hostetter Law Group, LLP, were present and party to the initial proceedings. 
This standard is met. 

 
C. The grounds relied upon for review. 
 

Recommended City Council Finding:  The letter submitted by the applicant’s legal 
Counsel, D. Zachary Hostetter, Hostetter Law Group, LLP, states that the “Appellant 
appeals the decision on the grounds that the findings of fact set out in the Decision Order 
are not supported by substantial evidence in the record and do not properly address the 
applicable criteria set out in Land Development Code Ordinance Section 8.5.003 (See 
attached). 
 
The appellant’s grounds are specifically related to the Findings of Fact in LDC Section 
8.5.003, Criterion C, which is provided in Decision Order Section XI below.  The grounds 
presented by the appellant have been incorporated into Decision Order Section XI and the 
City Council Findings of Fact below.  This standard is met.  



Decision Order – File No. 01-PCA-22 November 2, 2022 Page 4 of 18 
(Appeal of Decision on File No. 11-CUP-22) 

 

VI. Staff Recommended Conclusions and Order 

Based on the analysis and Findings of Fact in this Decision Order, the proposed Conditional Use 
Permit does not meet the requirements established in Land Development Code Ordinance 3252, 
Series 2021, Article 8.5, specifically for Criterion C.  The Planning Commission determined that by 
approving the request, the proposed BnB will “have significant adverse effects on the use or 
development of abutting properties.”  Specifically, the Planning Commission determined that the 
neighbor immediately to the East would be adversely impacted, with such impacts significantly 
affecting the livability and use of his property.  Planning Staff agrees with the Planning 
Commission’s determination and recommends the City Council’s consideration of Option 
1, below: 
 

Option 1 (Disapproval):  Affirm the Planning Commission Decision and Deny the 
Conditional Use Permit. 

 
Option 2 (Approve):  Reverse the Planning Commission Decision and Approve the Conditional 
Use Permit. 
 
 

VII. General Facts and Overview 

1. The subject property is located at the Southeast corner of “Y” Avenue and N. Greenwood 
Street.  It is bordered on the South by a public alley. 

 



Decision Order – File No. 01-PCA-22 November 2, 2022 Page 5 of 18 
(Appeal of Decision on File No. 11-CUP-22) 

 

2. The subject property is developed with a one-bedroom single-family dwelling, a detached 
garage with storage areas in the rear of the garage and upper floor.  One off-street parking 
space is currently provided in front of the garage, off N. Greenwood Street for the use by the 
main single-family dwelling.   

3. In July, 2021, the Planning Commission approved Conditional Use Permit, File Number 08-
CUP-21, granting permission for the applicant to rent the main dwelling (a one-bedroom home) 
as a Bed and Breakfast.  The parking space in front of the existing garage satisfies the one 
parking space requirement for this BnB.  (Note:  City Code requires one off-street parking space 
per guest sleeping room.) 

   

4. The proposed Conditional Use Permit (File Number 11-CP-22), which is the subject of this 
appeal, requests to improve the rear storage area and upper floor of the garage into a second 
BnB, a one-bedroom unit.  If approved, this will result in two (2) BnB rental units on the owner’s 
property.  To satisfy the City’s parking requirements, the applicant intends to construct a second 
parking space at the northeast corner of the property, within a new driveway off Y Avenue.  
(See Decision Order Section X below for additional discussions and Findings related to 
the City’s off-street parking requirements.) 

   

1 

1 

2 



Decision Order – File No. 01-PCA-22 November 2, 2022 Page 6 of 18 
(Appeal of Decision on File No. 11-CUP-22) 

 

 

5. The property is zoned Medium Density Residential (R-2).  Lodging uses, limited to Bed and 
Breakfast Inns are permitted by Conditional Use Permit only, under Land Development Code 
Ordinance 3252, Series 2021, Section 2.2.005(C)(9).  (See Decision Order Section XI below 
for Findings related to satisfying the Conditional Use Permit Review Criteria.) 

6. Under LDC Article 1.3, the City of La Grande defines all residential home or room rentals of 
less than 30 days as a lodging use – Bed and Breakfast Inn.  The City does not have a specific 
definition or category for Air BnBs, VRBO/vacation rentals, and other short-term rentals.  Under 
Section 2.1.003 these uses are classified under a “closest fit” evaluation, which for all short-
term lodging (30 days or less), therefore they are considered “Bed and Breakfast Inns.” 

7. A Bed and Breakfast Inn is defined under LDC Article 1.3, as follows: 

“Bed and Breakfast Inn – A structure designed and occupied as a residence in which 
sleeping rooms are provided on a daily or weekly basis for use by travelers or transients 
for a charge or fee paid or to be paid for the rental or use of the facility.  The Bed and 
Breakfast establishment has no more than five (5) guest sleeping rooms provided on a 
daily or weekly basis for the use of no more than a total of ten (10) travelers or transients 
at any one time.”  (Note:  Bold added for emphasis.) 

(Note:  Hotels and Motels are defined by City Code as lodging uses with more than 
five (5) guest sleeping rooms.  Such uses are only permitted in the City’s 
commercial zones.) 

8. Within the immediate surrounding area, there are currently three (3) approved BnB rentals. 
This request, if approved, would result in the establishment of a 4th BnB unit rental. 

 

 

  

1420 Z 
Avenue 

1507 Y 
Avenue 

1502 Y 
Avenue 

Proposed 
1502 Y Avenue 
Unit B 



Decision Order – File No. 01-PCA-22 November 2, 2022 Page 7 of 18 
(Appeal of Decision on File No. 11-CUP-22) 

 

VIII. Agency Comments 

In accordance with City of La Grande Land Development Code Ordinance (LDC) 3252, Series 
2021, Chapter 9, notice of the land use application was mailed to the following agencies:  City of 
La Grande Building Department, City of La Grande Fire Department, City of La Grande Planning 
Department, City of La Grande Police Department, City of La Grande Public Works Department, 
Avista Utilities, Charter Communications, City Garbage Service, Frontier Communications, Oregon 
Department of Transportation, and Oregon Trail Electric Cooperative. 
 
1. No written comments or concerns were received from notified affected agencies. 

 
 

IX. Public Comments 

In accordance with City of La Grande Land Development Code Ordinance (LDC) 3252, Series 
2021, Chapter 9, public notice was mailed to the owners of properties located within one hundred 
feet (100’) of the subject property. 
 
1. No written comments or concerns were received from affected property owners regarding this 

appeal.  However, the comments submitted as part of the Planning Commission Public Hearing 
remain valid.  Such comments are as follows: 
 
a. Bill Riley, 1506 Y Avenue (letter in opposition):  Mr. Riley submitted a letter in opposition, 

requesting that the Planning Commission deny the application as the property lacks the 
off-street parking to satisfy the City’s parking standards.  The proposed parking off the alley 
is not accessible due to the narrow alley width and narrow parking space between the 
existing garage, which is insufficient space for vehicles to maneuver into the parking space.  
Additionally, the alley is not maintained from snow in the winter, further making alley 
parking not feasible.  Mr. Riley also presented concerns related to property 
impacts/damage, traffic, and neighborhood safety.  Mr. Riley’s letter was made part of the 
record and is on file in City of La Grande Planning Division office, in File Number 11-CUP-
22.  Mr. Riley submitted oral testimony during the Public Hearing, along with a written copy 
of his testimony.  Such testimony was made part of the record and is on file in City of La 
Grande Planning Division office, in File Number 11-CUP-22. (See Findings in Decision 
Order Section X, Conditional Use Permit Review Criteria C, for a brief summary of 
this testimony.) 

 
b. Linda Carlsen, Tom Woodruff, 1510 Z Avenue (letter in support):  Ms. Carlsen and Mr. 

Woodruff submitted a letter in support of the application, discussing financial benefits of 
elderly and retired people renting their homes.  They also manage a BnB at 1507 Y Avenue 
and offered to allow interested parties to review their occupancy rates, and further advised 
that immediate neighbors would be willing to testify that there have not been any conflicts 
with the BnB at 1507 Y Avenue. 

 
c. Additional public testimony (in support):  Letters in support of the request, along with a 

petition was submitted to the Planning Commission during the Public Hearing by the 
applicant’s legal counsel, D. Zachary Hostetter, Hostetter Law Group, LLP.  Such testimony 
was made part of the record and is on file in City of La Grande Planning Division office, in 
File Number 11-CUP-22.  (See Findings in Decision Order Section X, Conditional Use 
Permit Review Criteria C, for a brief summary of this testimony.) 

 

 
  



Decision Order – File No. 01-PCA-22 November 2, 2022 Page 8 of 18 
(Appeal of Decision on File No. 11-CUP-22) 

 

X. Analysis of Applicable Standards 

Conditional Use Permits are required to satisfy the review criteria contained in the City of La Grande 
Land Development Code Ordinance 3252, Series 2021 (LDC), Article 8.5, Section 8.5.003, as well 
as other applicable criteria and standards of the Land Development Code, other City 
Ordinances and State law. 
 
LDC, Article 5.7, Section 5.7.009 – Table of Off-Street Parking Requirement:  For all lodging 
uses, the minimum parking required is One (1) space for each guest room up to forty (40) 
guest rooms. 
 
LDC, Article 5.7, Section 5.7.005 – Parking Design Standards:  The minimum parking space 
dimensions for 90° perpendicular parking shall be 9’ wide x 18’ deep, with the access aisle 
being a minimum of 24’ wide.  The Code allows for some variation in minimum design based on 
the angle of the parking space, parking space dimensions, and access aisle width, see table below. 
 

 
 

 
 

  



Decision Order – File No. 01-PCA-22 November 2, 2022 Page 9 of 18 
(Appeal of Decision on File No. 11-CUP-22) 

 

1. INITIAL Application Submittal (August 12, 2022): 
The applicant’s initial submittal identified the following two (2) parking spaces to support the 
BnB expansion.  Parking space “a” is existing and serves the main dwelling unit.  Parking space 
“b” is proposed to accommodate the new BnB, which would be accessed from the adjacent 
alley. (Note:  Parking space “b” does not meet minimum design requirements as provided in 
Section 5.7.005 above, as it is only 10’ deep and not of sufficient size to function as a parking 
space). 

 

   
 

a. Parking Space “a”:  For the one-bedroom BnB that is located within the main dwelling, a 
9’x18’ parking space is provided in front of the garage, accessed from N. Greenwood 
Street. 

 
Planning Commission Finding:  As discussed in Decision Order Section VII – 
General Findings (#3), above, in July, 2021, the Planning Commission approved 
Conditional Use Permit, File Number 08-CUP-21, granting permission for the applicant 
to rent the main dwelling (a one-bedroom home) as a BnB.  The parking space in front 
of the existing garage (parking space “a”) satisfies the one parking space requirement 
for this BnB. 

 
b. Parking Space “b”:  For the proposed one-bedroom BnB within the garage, a 10’x10’ 

parking space is “to be” improved on the East side of the garage, accessed off the alley. 
 

Planning Commission Finding:  The proposed 10’x10’ parking space for the second 
BnB (parking space “b”) does not meet the minimum design standards for space 
dimension or access aisle in accordance with LDC Section 5.7.005, as highlighted 
above.  See revised Site Plan submittal with 9’x18’ spaces to address this requirement. 

 
2. REVISED Application Submittal (September 6, 2022): 

On August 24, 2022, the applicant was notified via email of Staff’s review and determination 
that the proposed 10’x10’ parking space does not meet minimum City standards, as discussed 
above.  Staff provided the applicant the opportunity and recommended that they submit a 
revised application to address this conflict as it may result in a negative decision as originally 
proposed. 
 

a 

b 



Decision Order – File No. 01-PCA-22 November 2, 2022 Page 10 of 18 
(Appeal of Decision on File No. 11-CUP-22) 

 

On August 31, 2022, Staff followed up with the applicant via email on the status of submitting 
a revised application.  At that time, the applicant was also provided a copy of the letter 
submitted in opposition by Bill Riley, 1506 Y Avenue.  On September 6, 2022, the applicant 
(through their legal counsel, Hostetter Law Group, LLP) submitted a revised application to 
address the minimum parking requirements and to re-address the Conditional Use Permit 
review criteria.  (See Decision Order Section XI for Conditional Use criteria). 
 
Following are the 2 revised options presented by the applicant (Option 1 and Option 2): 
 

a. Parking Option 1:  The site plan is amended to increase the 10’x10’ parking space on 
the East side of the garage to a 9’x18’ space in compliance with City code; or, 
 

 
 

Planning Commission Finding:  This proposed Parking Option 1 meets the 
minimum dimensional standard for a parking space (9’x18’), but this option does 
not meet the minimum access requirements which must include 24’ aisle 
width in accordance with Section 5.7.005, as highlighted above.  This parking 
space utilizes the existing 16’ wide alley for access, which is 8’ short of the 24’ 
needed. 
 
Other considerations – The site plan is not drawn to scale and does not accurately 
represent the space available.  Below is a closer representation of actual 
conditions. 

• The garage has a 2-story addition constructed on the back of the garage, 
with a deck constructed over the proposed parking space. 

• The space between the garage and the East fence is roughly 9’ wide, 
bordered the wall of the garage and a fence.  This space is likely too 
narrow for a person to get in and out of a vehicle when in the parking 
space. 

• The existing building appears to encroach into the alley, making the alley 
narrower than 16’ wide.  Due to the narrow alley and tight maneuvering 
space, this parking space would not be easy to access and may not be 
accessible by most vehicles. (Again, City standards in Section 5.7.005 
are not met with this option.) 

 



Decision Order – File No. 01-PCA-22 November 2, 2022 Page 11 of 18 
(Appeal of Decision on File No. 11-CUP-22) 

 

 
 

b. Parking Option 2:  Alternatively, a 9’x18’ parking space could be located at the NE 
corner of the property, accessed off a new driveway approach from “Y” Avenue. 

 

 
 

 
Planning Commission Finding:  This proposed Parking Option 2 meets both the 
parking space dimensional requirement, as well as the access coming off a City street.  
The driveway cut would require obtaining a Driveway Permit from the City of La Grande 
Public Works Department, and the construction of the driveway approach (curb & 
sidewalk transition) must be improved with concrete meeting City specifications. 
City standards are met with this option. 
 
Note:  At the beginning of the Planning Commission Public Hearing, the applicant’s 
legal counsel, D. Zachary Hostetter, Hostetter Law Group, LLP, submitted a copy of 
an email from Danny Martens, Public Works Engineering Department, confirming that 
the proposed parking space could meet City requirements. 

 



Decision Order – File No. 01-PCA-22 November 2, 2022 Page 12 of 18 
(Appeal of Decision on File No. 11-CUP-22) 

 

 

XI. LDC Section 8.5.003 – Review Criteria 

A Conditional Use Permit shall be granted only if the review authority shall find that it satisfies the 
following criteria, as well as all other criteria and standards of this Code and other applicable codes 
and Ordinances. 
 
A. That the use is conditionally permitted in the zone in which it is proposed to be located. 

 
Planning Commission Finding:  The subject property is located within a Medium Density 
Residential (R-2) zone.  Bed and Breakfast Inns are permitted by Conditional Use Permit only, 
under Land Development Code Ordinance 3252, Series 2021, Section 2.2.005(C)(9). 
 
As defined under LDC Article 1.3, a Bed and Breakfast Inn is limited to five (5) sleeping guest 
rooms (aka bedrooms).  This request expands a previously approved Conditional Use Permit, 
File Number 08-CUP-21, for using the existing one-bedroom home as a BnB; to include the 
conversion/use of the rear and upper floor of the garage as a second one-bedroom BnB.  
Together, both BnB units would provide two (2) total guest bedrooms on the property which 
meets this standard. 
 

 
B. That the proposed development is timely, considering the availability and adequacy of the 

transportation system, and public facilities and services. 
 
Planning Commission Finding:  This criterion generally applies to areas where City standard 
improvements are missing (e.g. no streets, sidewalks, water, sewer, etc.) and where large 
projects require the extension or widening of streets and/or constructing other infrastructure 
improvements.  For this request, the subject property is located along N. Greenwood Street, 
which is a fully improved paved City street.  The continued use of the dwelling and expanded 
use to include the upper floor of the garage as a BnB will not require any new public 
infrastructure to be constructed.  This criterion is satisfied. 
 

C. That the location, size, design, and operating characteristics of the proposed development will 
be compatible with and will not have significant adverse effects on the use or development of 
abutting properties or surrounding neighborhood with uses permitted in the underlying zone. 
 
Planning Commission Finding1:  When determining conformance with this criterion, attention 
should be focused on the “location, size, design and operating characteristics” of the proposed 
use. 
 
The revised application (September 6, 2022), submitted by the applicant’s legal counsel, 
Hostetter Law Group, LLP, states, “The proposed development will be compatible with and will 
not have adverse effects on the use or development of abutting properties.  The occupancy 
impacts of the proposed rental will be similar to the impacts that would exist if the property is 
used as a single-family dwelling property.  The surrounding neighborhood is predominantly 
single-family homes.  The off-street parking will ensure that any vehicle occupancy will not 
impact the neighboring properties’ available street parking. 
 
The applicant’s original and revised submittals were made part of the record and are on file in 
City of La Grande Planning Division office, in File Number 11-CUP-22. 
 
Planning Commission Finding2:  Public Hearing –Testimony and Planning Commission 
Deliberations related to Criteria C: 
Following is a brief summary of the testimony received, upon which the Planning Commission 
based its decision: 
 



Decision Order – File No. 01-PCA-22 November 2, 2022 Page 13 of 18 
(Appeal of Decision on File No. 11-CUP-22) 

 

A. (In Favor) – The applicant’s legal counsel, D. Zachary Hostetter, Hostetter Law Group, 
LLP, provided testimony to the Planning Commission, referring to Criteria C and 
explaining that all other City requirements are satisfied.  Mr. Hostetter also submitted 
four (4) letters from residents in the vicinity of the applicant’s property in support of the 
BnB request, along with a petition in support.   
1. Jerry Rector, 1425 Y Avenue:  Located across Y Avenue, northwest of the subject 

property.  Mr. Rector’s letter explained that he has not experienced any conflicts 
with the existing Rose BnB, and that he is confident that the Rose family will 
maintain a safe environment. 

2. Renee Hays, 1507 X Avenue:  Located across the adjacent alley, southeast of the 
subject property.  Ms. Hays explained that Ms. Rose can screen her renters to 
maintain a high rating and has to keep the property maintained, neither of which is 
required for a permanent tenant.  Additional comments were provided regarding 
the difficulty in evicting long-term renters. 

3. Jeff Stremcha, 2502 N. Greenwood Street:  Located across N. Greenwood Street, 
southwest of the subject property.  Mr. Stremcha’s letter encouraged the 
commission to support this request. 

4. Robin Johnson, 2504 N. Greenwood Street:  Located across N. Greenwood Street, 
west of the subject property.  Ms. Johnson’s letter explains there is a history of 
crime and nuisances in the neighborhood and this BnB request will help ensure a 
safer neighborhood and improve the aesthetics of the block. 

5. Petition:  The petition included 2 pages with 38 signatures supporting the 
application request.  This petition was intended to reflect the neighborhood general 
sentiment on BnBs in the area. 

 
B. (In Favor) – Dustin Fuchs, representing the applicant, also provided testimony, 

explaining that he occasionally stays in the garage when visiting the property to care 
for family.  He explained his planned improvements for the garage structure to be 
converted to a dwelling unit and to support the second BnB.  He also advised that this 
will be a part-time BnB, which he would also occupy at times. 
 

C. (In Favor) – Sabrina Stremcha, 2502 N. Greenwood Street.  Voiced support and 
wanted to ease people’s concerns about BnBs.  Air BnBs have rigorous screening 
criteria. 
 

D. (In Opposition) – Bill Riley, 1506 Y Avenue.  Mr. Riley explained the process, timing 
and communications he has with the applicant.  He is opposed to the request to add a 
second BnB on the property.  Feels it should be the responsibility and burden of the 
business proposing to locate in a residential area, that they will not cause any adverse 
effects on the neighbors.  The BnB permit runs with the property and can be sold to 
anyone, including a corporation out of state to manage and operate.  Additional 
discussion included – when there are conflicts between businesses and neighboring 
residents, the business interests wins.  A copy of Mr. Riley’s testimony was provided 
in writing for the record. 

 
E. (In Rebuttal) – The applicant’s legal counsel, D. Zachary Hostetter, Hostetter Law 

Group, LLP, provided rebuttal, explaining that the applicant contracted with legal 
counsel to help better prepare and present their application.  Additional clarifications 
were presented on the process, revising the application and intentions. 
 

Planning Commission Finding3:  Planning Commission Deliberation: 
The Planning Commission discussions and deliberations resulted in the Commission 
finding that Criteria C was not met.  The following points were discussed by the Commission 
and influenced this decision. 
 



Decision Order – File No. 01-PCA-22 November 2, 2022 Page 14 of 18 
(Appeal of Decision on File No. 11-CUP-22) 

 

A. This is a second BnB rental unit on the same property, it is a 2-story ADU/structure that 
overlooks the neighboring property and presents adverse impacts that will negatively affect 
the livability, privacy and safety of the neighbor’s property. 
 

B. This request will result in significant adverse effects on the neighboring property based on 
the neighbor’s (Bill Riley’s) letter dated August 31, 2022, and his testimony during the 
public hearing. 

• The BnB is rarely vacant. 

• The BnB is located roughly 20’ from his house and bedroom window. 

• BnB guests are continually changing, strangers come and go daily, are not 
members of the community and never seen before.  This is a potential safety 
concern. 

• Guests (strangers) are easily able to look in his windows, watch him and his 
grandchildren on his property.  It’s an invasion of his privacy and significantly 
affects his ability to feel safe and keep his grandchildren safe.  His grandchildren 
are no longer able to play outside, in the backyard, alone, due to the safety 
concerns. 
 

C. This neighborhood includes small houses that are very close together, very little space 
between the dwellings, which increases how adverse impacts affect neighboring 
properties.  Larger properties where houses are more spread out have much lower 
impacts.  In this case, since development in this area is very compact and tightly packed 
in together, this is very concerning.  Such environment makes the neighboring property 
owner and long-term resident feel uncomfortable and unsafe.  This is a significant adverse 
impact that changes the character and residential atmosphere of a neighborhood. 
 

D. Neighborhoods are where residents may know each other at some level, feel comfortable 
talking to each other, possibly have block parties, and there is a sense of community.  This 
request reduces this sense of neighborhood as there would be no established relationships 
or the ability for such, it is in conflict with the neighbor’s ability to use and enjoy their 
property and detracts from the sense of community for this particular property and 
immediate vicinity. 

• BnBs are a commercial use, not a residential use, and they have commercial 
impacts. 

• There are three (3) BnBs within the immediate vicinity, and there is point where 
adding more BnBs significantly affects a neighborhood’s livability for long-term 
residents, which is the case with this request (adding a 4th BnB). 
 

E. Some Commissioners were supportive of the fact that the applicant intended to rent the 
BnB part-time, and to use it for their personal housing at other times.  However, this is 
something that cannot be monitored and controlled, as there is nothing to prevent the BnB 
from being used full-time as a BnB. 

 
F. The letters and petition received in support of the BnB request, submitted from other 

neighbors and residents in the vicinity was not very helpful in addressing this review criteria 
as these residents are not directly impacted.  The immediate neighbor to the East is directly 
impacted and such impacts are significant adverse impacts that affect the use, livability, 
quality of life, privacy and safety/security of the neighboring property. 

 
G. The garage proposed to be converted is a nonconforming structure in that it is too close, 

and even encroaches into the alley.  It is very close to neighboring properties which adds 
to or would increase the adverse impacts to neighboring properties. 

 
H. A person’s property is precious to them.  One of the worst life nightmares an owner can 

imagine is being in deep conflict with your neighbors and how upsetting and impactful that 



Decision Order – File No. 01-PCA-22 November 2, 2022 Page 15 of 18 
(Appeal of Decision on File No. 11-CUP-22) 

 

can be.  This request will result in a deep neighbor conflict that the Commission considers 
being a significant adverse impact that alters the character of the neighborhood. 

 
 

Appellant Grounds for Appeal with Community Development Director’s Analysis and 
Comments:  Pertaining to Criterion C, Planning Commission Findings. 
 
By letter dated September 27, 2022, following are the appellants grounds for appeal, stating 
that the Planning Commission’s findings of fact “are not supported by substantial evidence in 
the record and do not properly address the applicable criteria set out in Land Development 
Code Ordinance Section 8.5.003.” 

 
1. The vast majority of the neighbors in the neighborhood support Ms. Rose's 

application. Only one neighbor (Bill Riley) voiced any opposition. His testimony 
is the only place in the record where any evidence supporting a denial can be found. 
The findings of fact state that the neighbor feels "uncomfortable and unsafe" by the 
prospect of the AirBnB. That is all that he said. 
 

Community Development Director’s Analysis & Comments: 
The proposed BnB is a corner property that is bordered on 2 sides by City streets 
and an alley on the South side.  It is immediately bordered by only property which 
is owned and occupied by Mr. Bill Riley, 1506 Y Avenue.  Mr. Riley’s property is 
the only neighboring property that is directly impacted by the proposed BnB.  Mr. 
Riley’s property is separated by the BnB by a four foot (4’) tall fence and does not 
provide any visual buffer or privacy from activities that may occur on the BnB 
property. 
 
All other neighboring properties in the area are indirectly impacted.  None of them 
directly abut the BnB property and all of them are buffered from the activities that 
may occur on the BnB property by accessory structures (garages and sheds), or 
by a City street. 
 
The concerns and impacts expressed by Mr. Riley do focus on feeling 
“uncomfortable and unsafe,” as mentioned by the appellant, but such conflicts 
were explained and justified in his testimony and the Planning Commission’s 
Findings of Fact, which are as follows: 

• The proposed BnB is a 2-story ADU/structure that overlooks Mr. Riley’s 
property and presents significant adverse impacts that will negatively 
affect the livability, privacy and safety of Mr. Riley’s property. 

• The BnB is rarely vacant. 

• The existing single-family BnB is located roughly 20’ from his house and 
bedroom window. 

• BnB guests are continually changing, strangers come and go daily, are not 
members of the community and never seen before.  This is a potential 
safety concern. 

• Guests (strangers) are easily able to look in his windows, watch him and 
his grandchildren on his property.  It’s an invasion of his privacy and 
significantly affects his ability to feel safe and keep his grandchildren safe.  
His grandchildren are no longer able to play outside, in the backyard, 
alone, due to the safety concerns. 

 
2. The lone position of one neighbor stating that he doesn't like the idea of people he 

doesn't know entering onto the neighboring property is not substantial evidence to 
support a conclusion that the proposed use will have "significant adverse effects on 
the use or development" of Mr. Riley's property. The present state of affairs is that Ms. 
Rose (and any other neighbor of Mr. Riley) can have guests, invitees, or renters enter 



Decision Order – File No. 01-PCA-22 November 2, 2022 Page 16 of 18 
(Appeal of Decision on File No. 11-CUP-22) 

 

her property at any time for any lawful reason, and that those persons will include 
people that Mr. Riley "doesn't know". Whether or not Mr. Riley might find that such 
visitors may in the future make him feel "uncomfortable or unsafe" is not a significant 
adverse effect on Mr. Riley's use of his own property. Landowners in a residential area 
must routinely deal with the fact that their neighboring landowners' will have invitees, 
family members, guests, and renters that they do not know and that, therefore, might 
impinge upon their personal sense of privacy. That is part of living in a neighborhood. 

 
Community Development Director’s Analysis & Comments: 
Given that Mr. Riley is the only neighbor that is directly impacted by the proposed 
BnB, the Planning Commission considered the adverse impacts to his property as 
significant. 
 
The appellant’s explanation of people coming and going from Ms. Rose’s property 
which Mr. Riley doesn’t know may be accurate (e.g. guests, invitees or renters, 
etc.)  However, the feeling of comfort and safety may be very different with guests 
visiting owner/renter occupied home vs. BnB transient guests coming and going 
daily. 
 
When a home is occupied by an owner or full-time renter, their guests or invitees 
coming and going would be considered normal and expected, they would likely not 
make a neighbor feel uncomfortable or unsafe.  Similar to an owner/renter being 
welcome or non-threatening on their own property, by extension their guests would 
likely also be welcome and non-threatening. 
 
However, for a home that is not owner/renter occupied, all visitors to the property 
may be viewed as strangers and potentially not welcomed.  They are not known 
friends or guests of the property owner, but rather are transient guests and random 
business customers.  Mr. Riley’s concern for strangers of this manner being in 
close proximity to his property and being an invasion of his privacy and safety is a 
valid feeling and concern. 
 
The Planning Commission agreed with Mr. Riley and determined that adding a 
second BnB to this property would increase the existing adverse impacts Mr. Riley 
was experiencing and such increase created a significant adverse impact on the 
livability and use of Mr. Riley’s property. 

 
3. The findings of fact state that the request reduces the "sense of neighborhood" in which 

residents "may know each other at some level, feel comfortable talking to each other, 
[and] possibly have block parties ... ". The "sense of neighborhood" described in the 
findings of fact does not constitute a "substantial adverse effect" on the use or 
development of the neighborhood. There is nothing about this request which would 
preclude such activities. That is especially true considering the overwhelming support 
for this application among the surrounding neighbors elicited. 

 
Community Development Director’s Analysis & Comments: 
There are currently three (3) BnBs within a one-block radius of the appellant’s and 
Mr. Riley’s property.  One (1) is the appellant’s existing BnB that is immediately 
next door to Mr. Riley’s property.  A second (2nd) BnB is located directly across Y 
Avenue, with a third (3rd) BnB located approximately one block to the northwest. 
 
This proposed Conditional Use Permit would result in a fourth (4th) BnB in the 
neighborhood, and a 3rd BnB unit adjacent to Mr. Riley’s property.  Since Mr. Riley 
is currently experiencing adverse impacts with the two (2) existing BnBs adjacent 
to his property, having a third (3rd) BnB adjacent to his property is not a hypothetical 



Decision Order – File No. 01-PCA-22 November 2, 2022 Page 17 of 18 
(Appeal of Decision on File No. 11-CUP-22) 

 

or perceived impact.  It is a real impact that Mr. Riley is experiencing and which he 
predicts will increase as a result of the third (3rd) BnB being added.   
 
Mr. Riley feels that the BnBs are changing the character of his block and the 
neighborhood to one that is more commercial in nature, and it is changing the 
“sense of neighborhood.”  The Planning Commission agreed with Mr. Riley and 
determined that this change is a significant adverse impact to this neighborhood. 

 
4. For these reasons, the "evidence" submitted by Mr. Riley does not support the finding 

that the proposed development will result in significant adverse impacts on abutting 
properties or on the surrounding neighborhood. It is significant that the "facts" set out 
in the findings include that the AirBnB currently approved for the residence has rarely 
been vacant, and that strangers are coming and going daily. That "fact" establishes, if 
anything, that what Mr. Riley fears is already in existence, and that approval of this 
application will, therefore, have no significant impacts on the current neighborhood 
environment. 

 
Community Development Director’s Analysis & Comments: 
The Planning Commission recognized that Mr. Riley’s testimony and concerns are 
based on his experience with the two (2) existing BnBs that he lives next to.  Both 
of these were approved and began operation within the past two (2) years.  Based 
on the testimony received, these two (2) BnBs have resulted in adverse impacts 
to Mr. Riley and his property, significantly affecting his feeling of privacy and safety.  
The Planning Commission agreed with Mr. Riley that adding a third (3rd) BnB 
adjacent to his property will result in a significant adverse impact to Mr. Riley’s 
livability and use of Mr. Riley’s property. 
 
The Planning Commission’s decision to deny this third (3rd) BnB does not change 
or revoke any prior Conditional Use Permits for the other two (2) BnB adjacent to 
Mr. Riley’s property.  Also, the decision does not mitigate or relieve Mr. Riley of 
any existing adverse impacts generated from the existing BnBs.  However, the 
Planning Commission determined that approving a third (3rd) BnB adjacent to Mr. 
Riley’s would result in additional conflicts with the privacy and use of Mr. Riley’s 
property, and such conflicts are significant adverse impacts. 

 
5. Footnote:  1 One commissioner erroneously expressed that if any neighbor objects, the 

commission is obliged to deny the application.  That misstatement of the law was never 
corrected and may have served as the underlying reason for the Commission’s 
decision. 

 
Community Development Director’s Analysis & Comments: 
This Commissioner comment was made, but did not refer to any specific law or 
imply that such law exists.  This comment was expressed solely as an opinion of 
a single Commissioner at that moment in time.  This comment was not shared by 
other Commissioners by a Majority or by consensus.  As such, this single 
Commissioner’s opinion is not a Findings of Fact, is not a misstatement of the law 
and does not warrant a correction.   
 

 
 

City Council Findings: 
This section is a placeholder and will be filled in as part of the Public Hearing to support the City Council’s 
final decision.  Planning Staff will complete these Findings based on the Council discussions during the 
Hearing.  This may include (1) supporting the Planning Commission’s Findings, along with adding 
additional Findings per Council discussions; or (2) developing new Findings if the Council disagrees with 
the Planning Commission’s Findings.  



Decision Order – File No. 01-PCA-22 November 2, 2022 Page 18 of 18 
(Appeal of Decision on File No. 11-CUP-22) 

 

XII. Conclusions and Order 

Based on the Findings of Fact above, the City Council concludes that the Conditional Use Permit 
application (does/does not) meet the requirements established in LDC Article 8.5, specifically 
Criteria C, and hereby: 
 

SUGGESTED MOTION1: (Affirm the Planning Commission Decision) 
I move that the Finding of Fact and Conclusions set forth in the Draft Decision Order be 
(adopted / amended) and that the Planning Commission Decision be upheld, resulting in the 
Conditional Use Permit being denied. 
 
OR 
 
SUGGESTED MOTION2: (Reverse the Planning Commission Decision) 
I move that the Finding of Fact and Conclusions set forth in the Draft Decision Order be 
amended and that the Planning Commission Decision be reversed, resulting in the Conditional 
Use Permit being approved. 
 

(If this Motion is selected, the Council discussions should clearly identify what they 
disagree with in the PC decision and how/why they have determined that this request “will 
not have a significant adverse effect.”  These reasons will then become the Findings of 
Fact to support the City Council’s decision and will be shown above) 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
S:\Community Development\PLANNING\CITY COUNCIL\2022\11-02-22\Finals\5.a. - Attachment - 01-PCA-22 Rose FINAL Decision Order.docx 



EXHIBIT A 
 
 
 
 
 
 

PLANNING COMMISSION DECISION 
 

SEPTEMBER 13, 2022 
 
 



 
 
 
 

PLANNING DEPARTMENT  ▪  P.O. Box 670  ▪  1000 Adams Avenue  ▪  La Grande, OR  97850 
Phone: (541) 962-1307  ▪  Fax: (541) 963-3333  ▪  Email: kvancleave@cityoflagrande.org  ▪  Web: www.planning.cityoflagrande.org 

September 15, 2022 
 
 
Kimberly Rose 
1513 Z Avenue 
La Grande, OR  97850 
 
 

RE: DENIAL of Conditional Use Permit File Number 11-CUP-22 for property located at 1502 Y 
Avenue, T3S, R38E, Section 05BD, Tax Lot 5800 Union County Ref. #687 

 
 
Dear Ms. Rose, 
 
This letter is to confirm that the City of La Grande Planning Commission held a public hearing last 
evening, September 14, 2022, to consider your new conditional use permit application, requesting to 
expand your prior/existing conditional use permit, file number 08-CUP-21, to add a second bed and 
breakfast (BnB) on your property.  Unfortunately, the Planning Commission voted 3-0 (1 abstaining) to 
deny your request pursuant to Article 8.5 of the City of La Grande Land Development Code Ordinance 
3252, Series 2021.  The Planning Commission found that Review Criterion C was not met, and therefore 
denied the request. 
 
 
The Planning Commission’s Decision Order is enclosed.  If you would like to appeal this decision to the 
City of La Grande City Council, you have twelve (12) days from the date of this decision to file such 
request (by September 27, 2022).  If you wish to file an appeal, please contact my office to obtain an 
application and the review criteria for submitting such request. 
 
If you have any questions regarding the attached Decision Order, please contact me at 541-962-1307. 
 
Sincerely, 
 
 
 
 
Michael J. Boquist 
City Planner 
 
Enclosures: Planning Commission Decision Order 
  Copy of the Record. 



 
 
 
 

COMMUNITY DEVELOPMENT DEPARTMENT / PLANNING DIVISION  ▪  P.O. Box 670  ▪  1000 Adams Avenue  ▪  La Grande, OR  97850 
Phone: (541) 962-1307  ▪  Fax: (541) 963-3333  ▪  Web: www.planning.cityoflagrande.org 

PLANNING COMMISSION 
DECISION ORDER OF DENIAL 

 

 

HEARING BODY(IES): Planning Commission (Final Decision) 

HEARING DATE(S): Tuesday, September 13, 2022 

HEARING TIME(S): 6:00 p.m. 

HEARING LOCATION: City Hall Council Chambers, located at 1000 Adams Avenue, La Grande, 
Oregon.  The Planning Commission meeting can be viewed on Facebook Live at 

the following link: https://www.facebook.com/LaGrandeCityManager. Community 
members may submit comments or questions in writing in advance of the meeting.  
These written comments need to be received by 5:00 p.m. on date of the scheduled 
meeting, which will be read during the public comment section of the Public 
Hearing.  Community members may also attend the meeting virtually through 
electronic means by request and reservation only.  Issues which may provide the 
basis for an appeal to the Land Use Board of Appeals must be raised in writing or 
presented orally during the Public Hearing and with sufficient specificity to enable 
the Planning Commission or City Council to respond to the issues.  Reading or 
presenting written and oral comments into the record may be subject to a three-
minute time limit per community member. 

 

I. Application Information 

File Number:  11-CUP-22 

Proposal: The applicant has filed this conditional use permit application for the 
Planning Commission’s consideration, to expand their existing conditional 
use permit, file number 08-CUP-21, to add a second bed and breakfast 
(BnB) on their property. 

Applicant: Kimberly Rose 

Address/Location: 1502 Y Avenue, T3S, R38E, Section 05BD, Tax Lot 5800 
Union County Ref. #687 

Decision Order Prepared By: Michael J. Boquist, Community Development Director 

  

https://www.facebook.com/LaGrandeCityManager


Decision Order (DENIAL): 11-CUP-22 September 13, 2022 Page 2 of 13 
 
 

II. Schedule of Procedural and Public Hearing Requirements 

In accordance with Land Development Code Ordinance 3252, Series 2021, Articles 9.3 and 9.4, 
Land Development Code Amendments are subject to the City Council’s review and decision 
authority, upon receiving a recommendation from the Planning Commission.  In accordance with 
Article 9.5, public hearings for the consideration of the proposal were scheduled as follows: 

August 12, 2022 Conditional Use Permit Application received and deemed 
complete. 

August 15, 2022 Public notice mailed to surrounding property owners within 100’ 
and development review agencies. 

September 3, 2022 Advertised notice was published in The Observer, advertising the 
public hearing before the Planning Commission for September 
13, 2022. 

September 13, 2022 Public Hearing before the Planning Commission 

September 15, 2022 Planning Commission decision mailed to applicant and other 
parties. 

September 27, 2022 Expiration of Appeal period. 

 

III. Public Notice Information 

Public notice was issued in accordance with City and State laws.  Notice was provided in 
accordance with Land Development Code Ordinance 3252, Series 2021, Article 9.6, Section 
9.6.001(B).  Notice of the public hearing was published in the local newspaper of general 
circulation, with mailed notice provided to the applicant and to the owners of record of property 
located within one hundred feet (100’) of the subject property.  Additionally, all public hearing 
materials, including the Draft Decision Order was published on the City of La Grande – Planning 
Division’s webpage. 

 

IV. Review Process and Appeals 

A Conditional Use Permit is a quasi-judicial land use action that is subject to the Planning 
Commission’s review and approval.  The Planning Commission’s review includes a public hearing 
where testimony is accepted from interested persons and which results in a decision being issued 
in accordance with Chapter 9 of Land Development Code Ordinance 3252, Series 2021.   

A decision of the Planning Commission is final unless appealed to the City Council within twelve 
(12) days from the date the Planning Commission decision is mailed to the applicant. If the subject 
property is located within the Urban Growth Boundary, the decision of the City Council may be 
appealed to the Union County Board of Commissioners in accordance with the Joint Management 
Agreement and Union County Ordinance. 

 

  



Decision Order (DENIAL): 11-CUP-22 September 13, 2022 Page 3 of 13 
 
 

V. Staff Recommended Conclusions and Order 

Based on the analysis and Findings of Fact in this Decision Order, the proposed Conditional Use 
Permit meets the requirements established in Land Development Code Ordinance 3252, Series 
2021, Article 8.5, specifically with regards to parking requirements. 
 
The Planning Commission has three options with respect to the Conditional Use Permit: 
 

Option 1 (Approve):  Approve the Conditional Use Permit as presented; or, 
 
Option 2 (Conditionally Approve):  Approve the Conditional Use Permit as amended, with 
Conditions; 
 
Option 3 (Disapproval):  Deny the Conditional Use Permit. 
 
 

VI. General Facts and Overview 

1. The subject property is located at the Southeast corner of “Y” Avenue and N. Greenwood 
Street. 

 



Decision Order (DENIAL): 11-CUP-22 September 13, 2022 Page 4 of 13 
 
 

2. The subject property is developed with a one-bedroom single-family dwelling, a detached 
garage with an upper floor, and one off-street parking space which is located in front of the 
garage, off N. Greenwood Street.  A second parking space is located within the garage, but is 
not eligible as meeting the off-street parking requirement as it is a stacked and blocked in 
space. 

3. In July 2021, the Planning Commission approved conditional use permit, file number 08-CUP-
21, granting permission for the applicant to rent the main dwelling (a one-bedroom home) as a 
bed and breakfast.  The parking space in front of the existing garage satisfies the one parking 
space requirement for this BnB. 

   

 

4. This request is to improve the upper floor of the garage into a second BnB, one-bedroom unit, 
on the property.  If approved, the applicant intends to construct a second parking space to the 
expanded BnB use.  (See Decision Order Section IX below for Findings related to 
satisfying the City’s parking requirements.) 

5. The property is zoned Medium Density Residential (R-2).  Lodging uses, limited to Bed and 
Breakfast Inns are permitted by Conditional use Permit only, under Land Development Code 
Ordinance 3252, Series 2021, Section 2.2.005(C)(9).  (See Decision Order Section X below 
for Findings related to satisfying the Conditional Use Permit Review Criteria.) 

6. Under LDC Article 1.3, the City of La Grande defines all residential home or room rentals of 
less than 30 days as a lodging use.  The City does not have a specific definition or category 
for Air BnBs, VRBO/vacation rentals, and other short-term rentals.  Under Section 2.1.003 
these uses are classified under a “closest fit” evaluation, which for all short-term lodging (30 
days or less), they are considered “Bed and Breakfast Inns.” 

7. A Bed and Breakfast Inn is defined under LDC Article 1.3, as follows: 

“Bed and Breakfast Inn – A structure designed and occupied as a residence in which 
sleeping rooms are provided on a daily or weekly basis for use by travelers or transients 
for a charge or fee paid or to be paid for the rental or use of the facility.  The Bed and 
Breakfast establishment has no more than five guest sleeping rooms provided on a 
daily or weekly basis for the use of no more than a total of ten (10) travelers or transients 
at any one time.”  (Note:  Bold added for emphasis.) 
 

  

1 



Decision Order (DENIAL): 11-CUP-22 September 13, 2022 Page 5 of 13 
 
 

8. Within the immediate surrounding area, there are currently three (3) approved BnBs. This 
request, if approved, would result in the establishment of a 4th BnB. 

 

 

 
VII. Agency Comments 

In accordance with City of La Grande Land Development Code Ordinance (LDC) 3252, Series 
2021, Chapter 9, notice of the land use application was mailed to the following agencies:  City of 
La Grande Building Department, City of La Grande Fire Department, City of La Grande Planning 
Department, City of La Grande Police Department, City of La Grande Public Works Department, 
Avista Utilities, Charter Communications, City Garbage Service, Frontier Communications, Oregon 
Department of Transportation, and Oregon Trail Electric Cooperative. 
 
1. No written comments or concerns were received from notified affected agencies. 

 
 

VIII. Public Comments 

In accordance with City of La Grande Land Development Code Ordinance (LDC) 3252, Series 
2021, Chapter 9, public notice was mailed to the owners of properties located within one hundred 
feet (100’) of the subject property. 
 
1. Bill Riley, 1506 Y Avenue (letter in opposition):  Mr. Riley submitted a letter in opposition, 

requesting that the Planning Commission deny the application as the property lacks the off-
street parking to satisfy the City’s parking standards.  The proposed parking off the alley is not 
accessible due to the narrow alley width and narrow parking space between the existing 
garage, which is insufficient space for vehicles to maneuver into the parking space.  
Additionally, the alley is not maintained from snow in the winter, further making alley parking 
not feasible.  Mr. Riley also presented concerns related to property impacts/damage, traffic, 

1420 Z 
Avenue 

1507 Y 
Avenue 

1502 Y 
Avenue 

Proposed 
1502 Y Avenue 
Unit B 



Decision Order (DENIAL): 11-CUP-22 September 13, 2022 Page 6 of 13 
 
 

and neighborhood safety.  Mr. Riley’s letter was made part of the record and is on file in City 
of La Grande Planning Division office, in File Number 11-CUP-22.  Mr. Riley submitted oral 
testimony during the Public Hearing, along with a written copy of his testimony.  Such testimony 
was made part of the record and is on file in City of La Grande Planning Division office, in File 
Number 11-CUP-22. (See Findings in Decision Order Section X, Conditional Use Permit 
Review Criteria C, for a brief summary of this testimony.) 
 

2. Linda Carlsen, Tom Woodruff, 1510 Z Avenue (letter in support):  Ms. Carlsen and Mr. 
Woodruff submitted a letter in support of the application, discussing financial benefits of elderly 
and retired people renting their homes.  They also manage a BnB at 1507 Y Avenue and offered 
to allow interested parties to review their occupancy rates, and further advised that immediate 
neighbors would be willing to testify that there have not been any conflicts with the BnB at 1507 
Y Avenue. 

 
3. Additional public testimony (in support), along with a petition was gathered and submitted at 

the the Planning Commission Public Hearing by the applicant’s legal counsel, D. Zachary 
Hostetter, Hostetter Law Group, LLP.  Such testimony was made part of the record and is on 
file in City of La Grande Planning Division office, in File Number 11-CUP-22.  (See Findings 
in Decision Order Section X, Conditional Use Permit Review Criteria C, for a brief 
summary of this testimony.) 
 

 
IX. Analysis of Applicable Standards 

Conditional Use Permits are required to satisfy the review criteria contained in the City of La Grande 
Land Development Code Ordinance 3252, Series 2021 (LDC), Article 8.5, Section 8.5.003, as well 
as other applicable criteria and standards of the Land Development Code, other City 
Ordinances and State law. 
 
LDC, Article 5.7, Section 5.7.009 – Table of Off-Street Parking Requirement:  For all lodging 
uses, the minimum parking required is One (1) space for each guest room up to forty (40) 
guest rooms. 
 
LDC, Article 5.7, Section 5.7.005 – Parking Design Standards:  The minimum parking space 
dimensions for 90° perpendicular parking shall be 9’ wide x 18’ deep, with the access aisle 
being a minimum of 24’ wide.  The Code allows for some variation in minimum design based on 
the angle of the parking space, parking space dimensions, and access aisle width, see table below. 
 

 
 



Decision Order (DENIAL): 11-CUP-22 September 13, 2022 Page 7 of 13 
 
 

 
 
1. Application Submittal (August 12, 2022): 

The applicant’s initial submittal identified the following two (2) parking spaces, accessed off 
N. Greenwood Street and the adjacent alley. (Note:  Parking space “b” does not meet minimum 
design requirements). 

 

   
 

a. For the one-bedroom BnB within the main dwelling, a 9’x18’ parking space is provided in 
front of the garage, off N. Greenwood Street; although, it would be accessed off the alley 
for a vehicle to park within this space and not obstruct the public sidewalk. 

 

a 

b 



Decision Order (DENIAL): 11-CUP-22 September 13, 2022 Page 8 of 13 
 
 

Finding:  As discussed in Decision Order Section VI – General Findings (#3), above, 
in July 2021, the Planning Commission approved conditional use permit, file number 
08-CUP-21, granting permission for the applicant to rent the main dwelling (a one-
bedroom home) as a bed and breakfast.  The parking space in front of the existing 
garage (parking space “a”) satisfies the one parking space requirement for this BnB. 

 
b. For the one-bedroom BnB above the garage, a 10’x10’ parking space is “to be” improved 

on the East side of the garage, accessed off the alley.  This parking space does not meet 
minimum design requirements, and thus is not a qualifying parking space. 

 
Finding:  The proposed parking space for the second BnB, to be improved East of the 
existing garage (parking space “b”) does not meet the minimum design standards for 
space dimension or access aisle in accordance with LDC Section 5.7.005, as 
highlighted above.  See revised Site Plan submittal with 9’x18’ spaces to address this 
requirement. 

 
2. REVISED Application Submittal (September 6, 2022): 

On August 24, 2002, the applicant was notified via email of Staff’s finding regarding the 
proposed 10’x10’ parking space not meeting minimum City standards.  Staff recommended 
that the applicant submit a revised application to address this conflict as it may result in a 
negative decision. 
 
On August 31, 2022, Staff followed up with the applicant via email on the status of submitting 
a revised application.  The applicant was also provided a copy of the letter in opposition 
submitted by Bill Riley, 1506 Y Avenue.  On September 6, 2022, the applicant (through their 
legal counsel, Hostetter Law Group, LLP) submitted a revised application to address the 
minimum parking requirements and to re-address the Conditional Use Permit review criteria.  
(See Decision Order Section X for Conditional Use criteria). 
 
Following are the 2 revised options presented by the applicant (Option 1 and Option 2): 
 

a. Parking Option 1:  The site plan is amended to increase the 10’x10’ parking space on 
the East side of the garage to a 9’x18’ space in compliance with City code; or, 
 

 
 

Finding:  This proposed Parking Option 1 meets the minimum dimensional 
standard for a parking space (9’x18’), but this option does not meet the 
minimum access requirements which must include 24’ aisle width.  This 
parking space utilizing the existing 16’ wide alley for access, which is 8’ short of 
the 24’ needed. 
 



Decision Order (DENIAL): 11-CUP-22 September 13, 2022 Page 9 of 13 
 
 

Other considerations – the site plan is not drawn to scale to accurately represent 
the space available.  Below is a closer representation of actual conditions. 

• The garage has a 2-story addition constructed on the back, with a deck 
constructed over the proposed parking space. 

• The existing building appears to encroach into the alley, making the alley 
narrower than 16’ wide.  Due to the narrow alley and tight maneuvering 
space, this parking space would not be easy to access and may not be 
accessible by most vehicles. (Again, City standards are not met with 
this option.) 

 

 
 

b. Parking Option 2:  Alternatively, a 9’x18’ parking space could be located at the NE 
corner of the property, accessed off a new driveway approach from “Y” Avenue. 

 

 
 

 
Finding:  This proposed Parking Option 2 meets both the parking space dimensional 
requirement, as well as the access coming off a City street.  The driveway cut would 
require obtaining a Driveway Permit from the City of La Grande Public Works 
Department, and the construction of the driveway approach (curb & sidewalk transition) 
must be improved with concrete meeting City specifications. 
City standards are met with this option. 



Decision Order (DENIAL): 11-CUP-22 September 13, 2022 Page 10 of 13 
 
 

 
Note:  At the beginning of the Planning Commission Public Hearing, the applicant’s 
legal counsel, D. Zachary Hostetter, Hostetter Law Group, LLP, submitted a copy of 
an email from Danny Martens, Public Works Engineering Department, confirming that 
the proposed parking space meeting City requirements. 

 
 

X. LDC Section 8.5.003 – Review Criteria 

A Conditional Use Permit shall be granted only if the review authority shall find that it satisfies the 
following criteria, as well as all other criteria and standards of this Code and other applicable codes 
and Ordinances. 
 
A. That the use is conditionally permitted in the zone in which it is proposed to be located. 

 
Finding:  The subject property is located within a Medium Density Residential (R-2) zone.  Bed 
and Breakfast Inns are permitted by Conditional use Permit only, under Land Development 
Code Ordinance 3252, Series 2021, Section 2.2.005(C)(9). 
 
As defined under LDC Article 1.3, a Bed and Breakfast Inn is limited to five (5) sleeping guest 
rooms (aka bedrooms).  This request expands a previously approved conditional use permit, 
file number 08-CUP-21, for using the existing one-bedroom home as a BnB; to include the 
conversion/use of the upper floor of the garage as a second one-bedroom BnB.  Together, both 
BnBs would provide two (2) total guest bedrooms on the property which meets this standard. 
 

 
B. That the proposed development is timely, considering the availability and adequacy of the 

transportation system, and public facilities and services. 
 
Finding:  This criterion generally applies to areas where City standard improvements are 
missing (e.g. no streets, sidewalks, water, sewer, etc.) and where large projects require the 
extension or widening of streets and/or constructing other infrastructure improvements.  For 
this request, the subject property is located along N. Greenwood Street, which is a fully 
improved paved City street.  The continued use of the dwelling and expanded use to include 
the upper floor of the garage as BnBs will not require any new public infrastructure to be 
constructed.  This criterion is satisfied. 
 

C. That the location, size, design, and operating characteristics of the proposed development will 
be compatible with and will not have significant adverse effects on the use or development of 
abutting properties or surrounding neighborhood with uses permitted in the underlying zone. 
 
Finding1:  When determining conformance with this criterion, attention should be focused on 
the “location, size, design and operating characteristics” of the proposed use. 
 
The revised application, submitted by the applicant’s legal counsel, Hostetter Law Group, LLP, 
states, “The proposed development will be compatible with and will not have adverse effects 
on the use or development of abutting properties.  The occupancy impacts of the proposed 
rental will be similar to the impacts that would exist if the property is used as a single-family 
dwelling property.  The surrounding neighborhood is predominantly single-family homes.  The 
off-street parking will ensure that any vehicle occupancy will not impact the neighboring 
properties’ available street parking. 
 
The applicants original and revised submittals were made part of the record and are on file in 
City of La Grande Planning Division office, in File Number 11-CUP-22. 
 

  



Decision Order (DENIAL): 11-CUP-22 September 13, 2022 Page 11 of 13 
 
 

Finding2:  Public Hearing –Testimony and Planning Commission Deliberations related to 
Criteria C: 
Following is a brief summary of the testimony received: 
 

A. (In Favor) – The applicant’s legal counsel, D. Zachary Hostetter, Hostetter Law Group, 
LLP, provided testimony to the Planning Commission, referring to Criteria C and 
explaining that all other City requirements are satisfied.  Mr. Hostetter also submitted 
four (4) letters from residents in the vicinity of the applicant’s property in support of the 
BnB request, along with a petition in support.   
1. Jerry Rector, 1425 Y Avenue:  Located across Y Avenue, northwest of the subject 

property.  Mr. Rector’s letter explained that he has not experienced any conflicts 
with the existing Rose BnB, and that he is confident that the Rose family will 
maintain a safe environment. 

2. Renee Hays, 1507 X Avenue:  Located across the adjacent alley, southeast of the 
subject property.  Ms. Hays explained that Ms. Rose can screen her renters to 
maintain a high rating and has to keep the property maintained, neither of which is 
required for a permanent tenant.  Additional comments were provided regarding 
the difficulty in evicting long-term renters. 

3. Jeff Stremcha, 2502 N. Greenwood Street:  Located across N. Greenwood Street, 
southwest of the subject property.  Mr. Stremcha’s letter encouraged the 
commission to support this request. 

4. Robin Johnson, 2504 N. Greenwood Street:  Located across N. Greenwood Street, 
west of the subject property.  Ms. Johnson’s letter explains there is a history of 
crime and nuisances in the neighborhood and this BnB request will help ensure a 
safer neighborhood and improve the aesthetics of the block. 

5. Petition:  The petition included 2 pages with 38 signatures supporting the 
application request.  This petition was intended to reflect the neighborhood general 
sentiment on BnBs in the area. 

 
B. (In Favor) – Dustin Fuchs, representing the applicant, also provided testimony, 

explaining that he occasionally stays in the garage when visiting the property to care 
for family.  He explained his planned improvements for the garage structure to convert 
it to a dwelling unit and to support the BnB.  He also advised that this will be a part-
time BnB, which he would occupy at times. 
 

C. (In Favor) – Sabrina Stremcha, 2502 N. Greenwood Street.  Voiced support and 
wanted to ease people’s concerns about BnB.  Air BnB has rigorous screening criteria. 
 

D. (In Opposition) – Bill Riley, 1506 Y Avenue.  Mr. Riley explained the process, timing 
and communications he has with the applicant.  He is opposed to the request to add a 
second BnB on the property.  Feels it should be the responsibility and burden of the 
business proposing to locate in a residential area that they will not cause any adverse 
effects on the neighbors.  The BnB permit runs with the property and can be sold to 
anyone, including a corporation out of state to manage and operate.  Additional 
discussion included – when there are conflicts between businesses and neighboring 
residents, the business interests wins.  A copy of Mr. Riley’s testimony was provided 
in writing for the record. 

 
E. (In Rebuttal) – The applicant’s legal counsel, D. Zachary Hostetter, Hostetter Law 

Group, LLP, provided rebuttal, explaining that the applicant contracted with legal 
council to help better prepare and present their application.  Additional clarifications 
were presented on the process, revising the application and intentions. 
 

  



Decision Order (DENIAL): 11-CUP-22 September 13, 2022 Page 12 of 13 
 
 

Finding3:  Planning Commission Deliberation: 
The Planning Commission discussions and deliberations resulted in the Commission 
finding that Criteria C was not met.  The following points were discussed by the Commission 
and influenced this decision. 
 
A. This is a second BnB on the same property, it is a 2-story ADU/structure that overlooks the 

neighboring property and presents adverse impacts that will negatively affect the livability, 
privacy and safety of the neighbor’s property. 
 

B. This request will result in significant adverse effects on the neighboring property based on 
the neighbor’s (Bill Riley’s) letter dated August 31, 2022, and his testimony during the 
public hearing. 

• The BnB is rarely vacant. 

• The BnB is located roughly 20’ from his house and bedroom window. 

• BnB guest are continually changing, strangers come and go daily, are not 
members of the community and never seen before.  This is a potential safety 
concern. 

• Guests (strangers) are easily able to look in his windows, watch him and his 
grandchildren on his property.  It’s an invasion of his privacy and significantly 
affects his ability to feel safe and keep his grandchildren safe.  His grandchildren 
are no longer able to play outside, in the backyard, alone, due to the safety 
concerns. 
 

C. This neighborhood includes small houses that are very close together, very little space 
between the dwellings, which increases how adverse impacts affect neighboring 
properties.  Larger properties where houses are more spread out have much lower 
impacts.  In this case, since development in this area is very compact and tightly packed 
in together, this is very concerning.  Such environment makes the neighboring property 
owner and long-term resident feel uncomfortable and unsafe.  This is a significant adverse 
impact that changes the character and residential atmosphere of a neighborhood. 
 

D. Neighborhoods are where residents may know each other at some level, feel comfortable 
talking to each other, possibly have block parties, and there is a sense of community.  This 
request reduces this sense of neighborhood as there would be no established relationships 
or the ability for such, it is in conflict with the neighbor’s ability to use and enjoy their 
property and detracts from the sense of community for this particular property and 
immediate vicinity. 

• BnB’s are a commercial use, not a residential use, and they have commercial 
impacts. 

• There are 3 BnB within the immediate vicinity, and there is point where adding 
more BnB’s significantly affects a neighborhood’s livability for long-term 
residents, which is the case with this request. 
 

E. Some Commissioners were supportive of the fact that the applicant intended to rent the 
BnB part-time, and to use it for their personal housing at other times.  However, this is 
something that cannot be monitored and controlled, as there is nothing to prevent the BnB 
from being used full-time as a BnB. 

 
F. The letters and petition received in support of the BnB request, submitted from other 

neighbors and residents in the vicinity was not very helpful in addressing this review criteria 
as they are not directly impacted.  The immediate neighbor to the East is directly impacted 
and such impacts are significantly adverse impacts that affect the use, livability, quality of 
life, privacy and safety/security of the neighboring property. 

 



Decision Order (DENIAL): 11-CUP-22 September 13, 2022 Page 13 of 13 
 
 

G. The garage proposed to be converted is a nonconforming structure in that it is too close, 
and even encroaches into the alley.  It is very close to neighboring properties which adds 
to or would increase the adverse impacts to neighboring properties. 

 
H. A person’s property is precious to them.  One of the worst life nightmares an owner can 

imagine is being in deep conflict with your neighbors and how upsetting and impactful that 
can be.  This request will result is this conflict which is a significant adverse impact that 
alters the character of the neighborhood. 

 
 

XI. Conclusions and Order 

Based on the Findings of Fact above, the Planning Commission concludes that the Conditional Use 
Permit application does not meet the requirements established in LDC Article 8.5, specifically 
Criteria C, and hereby denies the Conditional Use Permit. 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
s:\community development\planning\planning commission\2022\09-13-22\11-cup-22 rose final decision order.docx 



 
 
 
 

COMMUNITY DEVELOPMENT DEPARTMENT / PLANNING DIVISION  ▪  P.O. Box 670  ▪  1000 Adams Avenue  ▪  La Grande, OR  97850 
Phone: (541) 962-1307  ▪  Fax: (541) 963-3333  ▪  Web: www.cityoflagrande.org 

PLANNING COMMISSION RECORD 
APPLICATION MATERIALS AND TESTIMONY RECEIVED 

 

 

HEARING BODY(IES): Planning Commission 

HEARING DATE(S): Tuesday, September 13, 2022 

HEARING TIME(S): 6:00 p.m. 

HEARING LOCATION: City Hall Council Chambers, located at 1000 Adams Avenue, La Grande, 
Oregon.   

 
 



























COMMUNITY DEVELOPMENT DEPARTMENT / PLANNING DIVISION  ▪  P.O. Box 670  ▪  1000 Adams Avenue  ▪  La Grande, OR  97850 
Phone: (541) 962-1307  ▪  Fax: (541) 963-3333  ▪  Web: www.cityoflagrande.org 

TESTIMONY RECEIVED 
FOR 

PLANNING COMMISSION 
CONSIDERATION ON  
SEPTEMBER 13, 2022 











































EXHIBIT B 
 
 
 
 
 
 

APPLICATION FOR APPEAL 
 

APPELLANT SUBMITTAL 
 

SEPTEMBER 26-27, 2022 
 
 

















Agenda Item 7.a. 
Office Use Only 

CITY of LA GRANDE 
 

COUNCIL ACTION FORM 
 

Council Meeting Date:  November 2, 2022  
 
PRESENTER:           Kyle Carpenter, Public Works Director 
 
COUNCIL ACTION:          CONSIDER AWARDING BID FOR SANITARY SEWER REHABILITATION 
 
 1.  MAYOR: Request Staff Report 
 

2.  MAYOR: Invite Public Comments 
 

 3.  MAYOR: Invite Council Discussion 
 

 4.  MAYOR: Entertain Motion 
 
  Suggested Motion:  I move that we award the 2022/2023 

Sanitary Sewer Rehabilitation Project to Planned and 
Engineered Construction, Inc., in the amount of $488,850, as 
shown in the Bid Summary, and, further, that City Manager Strope 
be authorized to execute the contract documents for the bid for 
the Project. 

 
 5.  MAYOR: Invite Additional Council Discussion 
 
 6.  MAYOR: Ask for the Vote 
 
********************************************************************************************************************************* 
EXPLANATION:  Public Works Staff continually reviews the conditions of sewer mainlines with a camera 
designed to travel inside the main lines, allowing staff to view the existing condition of sewer mains, some of which 
have been in use for over 100 years.  Several locations are in need of major repair and we have found cured-in-
place pipe (CIPP) the most cost effective and least disruptive method to recondition these lines to like-new condition.  
The cured-in-place-pipe process installs a new pipe within the existing pipe and then reinstates the sewer services 
by cutting out the service line connections from within the new line.  This process does not require excavation unless 
major problems develop.  The City has eighty-five (85) miles of sewer main lines and has reconditioned 
approximately thirty (30) miles of main lines (5,840 feet in 2021) over the last thirty (30) years with the cured-in-
place pipe lining with great success.  This Bid Award will allow staff to proceed with the execution of this project. 
 
Staff advertised for competitive bids and received five (5) qualified bids, with the low bid of $ 488,850, from Planned 
and Engineered Construction, Inc., of Helena, Montana.  The project will consist of installation of approximately 
2,625 L.F. of 27-inch cured-in-place pipe, 995 L.F. of 8-inch cured-in-place pipe, and reinstatement of service lines. 
The amount budgeted for this work is $500,000. 
 
The City Manager recommends awarding the bid as presented by Staff. 
********************************************************************************************************************************* 

Reviewed By: (Initial)        COUNCIL ACTION (Office Use Only) 
City Manager  _____  Human Resources Dept _____   
City Recorder  _____  Library   _____   Motion Passed 
Aquatics Division  _____  Parks Department  _____   Motion Failed;     
Building Department _____ Planning Department _____   Action Tabled:     
ED Department _____ Police Department _____ Vote:      
Finance   _____  Public Works Department _____   
Fire Department   _____        Resolution Passed #_____________ 
  Effective Date:     
           Ordinance Adopted #____________  
  First Reading:     
  Second Reading:    
 Effective Date:     
 





S:\Manager's Office\MEETINGS\CAFs\2022\COUNCIL\11-02-2022\7.b. - CAF FINAL- Approving Lifeflight Contract with Fire Department.doc 

Agenda Item 7.b. 
Office Use Only 

CITY of LA GRANDE 

 
COUNCIL ACTION FORM 

 
Council Meeting Date:  November 2, 2022 

 
PRESENTER:  Emmitt Cornford, Fire Chief 
 
COUNCIL ACTION:  CONSIDER AUTHORIZING THE CITY MANAGER TO FINALIZE AND SIGN 

THE TRANSPORT AGREEMENT BETWEEN LIFEFLIGHT AND LA GRANDE 
FIRE DEPARTMENT 

 
 1.  MAYOR: Request Staff Report 
 
 2.  MAYOR: Invite Public Comments 
 

 3.  MAYOR: Invite Council Discussion 
 
 4.  MAYOR: Entertain Motion 
 
  Suggested Motion:  I move that the City Manager be authorized 

to finalize and sign the Agreement between Life Flight and the 
City of La Grande Fire Department, as presented.  

 
 5.  MAYOR: Invite Additional Council Discussion 
  
 6.  MAYOR: Ask for the Vote 
  
********************************************************************************************************************************* 
EXPLANATION:  La Grande Fire Department provides transport services from Grande Ronde Hospital to Life 
Flight aircraft at the Union County Airport approximately 160-180 times / year. Currently the Fire Department 
staffs these transports at all times with two (2) Firefighter/EMT’s. Crews are required to write a Patient Care 
Report (PCR) to allow for billing of the transport. The attached draft agreement would provide the opportunity for 
Life Flight to lease a City ambulance at a fixed rate for these transports.  This allows for flexibility to staff the 
transports with one (1) or two (2) Firefighter/EMT’s, or an EMT casual, depending on available staff and patient 
needs. In addition, City staff would not be responsible for the PCR, which is a considerable time saver.  With the 
increasing number of emergency calls being answered by La Grande Fire, this flexibility will result in more City 
staff available to respond to emergencies. Life Flight staff is responsible for patient care during these transports. 
In addition to the response advantages, we will see a small decrease in overtime, less time spent billing for 
transports and a consistent revenue amount as compared to our current system.  Staff is still working with Life 
Flight and CIS on some final language which will be resolved prior to the agreement being finalized.   
 
The City Manager recommends approval as presented.   
 
 
 
********************************************************************************************************************************* 
Reviewed By: (Initial)        COUNCIL ACTION  (Office Use Only) 
City Manager  _____  Human Resources Dept _____   
City Recorder  _____  Library   _____   Motion Passed 
Aquatics Division  _____  Parks Department  _____   Motion Failed;     
Building Department _____ Planning Department _____   Action Tabled:     
ED Department _____ Police Department _____ Vote:      
Finance   _____  Public Works Department _____   
Fire Department   _____        Resolution Passed 
  Effective Date:     
 
           Ordinance Adopted  
  First Reading:     
  Second Reading:    
 Effective Date:     
 



 

 

GROUND TRANSPORT SERVICES AND LEASE AGREEMENT 

THIS GROUND TRANSPORT SERVICES AND LEASE AGREEMENT (this 
“Agreement”) is by and between Life Flight Network, LLC, an Oregon limited liability 
company (“LFN”), and the City of La Grande, (“City”).  Each party may be referred to 
hereunder as a “Party” or collectively as the “Parties.” 

BACKGROUND 

LFN operates an air medical service (and related ground transport service) in Oregon, 
Washington, Idaho and Montana.  LFN is the largest air medical transport program in the 
Pacific Northwest, with rotor-wing bases located in: Astoria, Aurora, Cottage Grove,  La 
Grande, Newport, Ontario, Pendleton, Redmond and Salem, Oregon; Brewster, 
Coupeville, Dallesport, Kelso, Moses Lake, Port Angeles, Pullman, Richland, Spokane and 
Walla Walla, Washington; Burley, Boise, Coeur d'Alene, Lewiston, and Sandpoint, Idaho; 
and Bozeman, Butte and Missoula, Montana, and with fixed-wing bases located in: Aurora 
and La Grande, Oregon; Dallesport, Moses Lake, Port Angeles, Richland and Spokane, 
Washington; Boise and Lewiston, Idaho; and Butte, Montana. 

City owns and operates a community ambulance service and provides ground ambulance 
services for the local transport of patients in need of such services.  There may be times 
when LFN will lease City-owned and operated ambulances (“Ground Ambulances”) and, 
using LFN medical personnel, provide patient care.  The purpose of this Agreement is to 
establish the understandings of the Parties with respect to such transports. 

NOW THEREFORE, in consideration of the mutual covenants in this Agreement, 
the Parties agree as follows: 

ARTICLE I. 
TERM 

1.1 Term.  The term of this Agreement shall commence on the date this 
Agreement is signed by the last party to sign it (the “Effective Date”) and shall remain in 
effect for one year, unless terminated earlier under Section 1.2.  This Agreement will 
automatically be renewed for additional, consecutive one-year terms, unless either Party 
notifies the other Party at least thirty (30) days prior to the expiration of the then-current 
term that it does not agree to an extension of the term. 

1.2 Termination.  Either Party may terminate this Agreement upon the default 
of the other Party if the defaulting Party has not cured the default within thirty (30) days of 
its receipt of written notice of the existence and nature of the default.  In addition, either 
Party may terminate this Agreement without cause upon thirty (30) days prior written 
notice. 

 

 



 

2 
 

ARTICLE II. 
LEASE 

2.1 Lease.  City hereby agrees to lease to LFN and LFN hereby agrees to lease 
from City, subject to the terms of this Agreement, the Ground Ambulances, each of which 
shall be duly licensed and equipped for patient transport in accordance with state EMS 
laws, rules and regulations.  The Ground Ambulances shall be operated by qualified City 
drivers and shall at all times be and remain the sole and exclusive personal property of 
City.  LFN shall have no right, title or interest in the Ground Ambulances except as to the 
possession and use thereof subject to the terms and conditions of this Agreement. 

2.2 Scheduling.  LFN shall lease the Ground Ambulances from City on an as 
needed basis, and as mutually agreed.  The Parties shall track and document LFN’s actual 
usage of the Ground Ambulances.  Delivery of the Ground Ambulances shall be as agreed 
upon. 

The Parties agree that LFN will request services from City first when seeking transports in 
Union County from GRH to LFN aircraft. Should the City not be able to provide services 
sought on the schedule required by LFN, the Parties agree LFN can seek services from 
other third parties. 

2.3 Rental Rate.  LFN shall pay City a rental rate (“Rental Rate”) of $525.00 
per transport plus $10.00 per mile for Ground Ambulance for actual miles traveled with a 
LFN patient on board.  The Parties have negotiated this rate on an arm’s-length basis. 

2.4 Insurance.   City shall obtain and maintain for the entire term of this 
Agreement, at its own expense, business auto insurance for the Ground Ambulances for 
third party liability and physical damage.  Liability insurance shall be for minimum 
amounts of $5,000,000 per occurrence (combined single limit); include LFN as additional 
insured with waiver of subrogation from the insurance company in favor of LFN and 
include a clause requiring the insurer to provide at least thirty (30) days prior written notice 
of cancellation.  City shall furnish to LFN a certificate of insurance or other evidence 
satisfactory to LFN that such insurance is in effect, provided however that LFN shall be 
under no duty to ascertain the existence of or to examine such insurance policy or to inform 
City such insurance does not comply with the requirements hereof.  City further agrees to 
give LFN prompt notice of any damage to, or loss of, the Ground Ambulances. Each Party 
shall obtain and maintain for the entire term of this Agreement, at its own expense, 
professional liability insurance while the Ground Ambulance is in their possession, control 
or use. 

LFN shall obtain and maintain for the entire term of this Agreement, at its own expense, 
liability insurance.  Liability insurance shall be for minimum amounts of $5,000,000 per 
occurrence (combined single limit); include City as additional insured and include a clause 
requiring the insurer to provide at least thirty (30) days prior written notice of 
cancellation.  LFN shall furnish to City a certificate of insurance or other evidence 
satisfactory to City that such insurance is in effect.  LFN further agrees to give City prompt 
notice of any material damage to, or a loss of, the Ground Ambulances.  
 



 

3 
 

2.5 Reimbursement; Maintenance of Records.  LFN shall have the sole right 
and discretion to bill and collect the fees for City transports of LFN patients, and City shall 
not bill any patient or payer, or claim any portion of LFN’s collections. City’s 
reimbursement shall be limited to the Rental Rate.  LFN shall maintain patient care records 
and City shall maintain Ground Ambulance records, including but not limited to: vehicle 
licensing and registration records, maintenance records, medical equipment records, driver 
education records, and the make, model, year, vehicle identification number, and the date 
that each Ground Ambulance was first used pursuant to this Agreement. Each Party agrees 
to make such records available to the other Party for compliance or billing purposes within 
ten (10) business days of a request or earlier if required by court order, the government or 
law. 

2.6 Affirmative Covenants of City.  During the term of this Agreement, City 
shall: 

 a) Pay all costs associated with the Ground Ambulances including their 
maintenance, repairs, fuel and insurance, and keep Ground Ambulances in good operating 
order and condition. 

 b) Assume all risks of loss with respect to the Ground Ambulances, 
including without limitation theft, damage or destruction.   

 c) Instruct drivers of the Ground Ambulances not to exceed a speed 
limit of 10 miles per hour more than the legal speed limit, regardless of whether a patient 
is on board or whether the transport is “Code 3.”   

 d) Comply with all federal, state and local laws, regulations, 
requirements and rules pertaining to the Ground Ambulances and City’s obligations 
hereunder, all manufacturer’s instructions and maintenance agreement or warranty 
requirements, and the conditions and requirements of all policies of insurance with respect 
to the Ground Ambulances and this Agreement which are obtained and maintained by City. 

 e) Pay all lawful claims, whether for labor, materials, supplies, rents or 
services, which might or could if unpaid become a lien on the Ground Ambulances which 
are imposed due to City’s failure to perform any obligations or pay any sums due to any 
party. 

 f) Pay, when due, all license fees, assessments, personal property or 
other taxes (excluding sales or use taxes) now and hereafter imposed by any governmental 
body or City upon the Ground Ambulances or the use thereof, and taxes, if any.    

ARTICLE III. 
OTHER TERMS 

3.1 Indemnification.  LFN agrees to hold harmless, indemnify, and defend the 
City, and its officers and employees from and against all claims, suits, actions, losses, 
damages, liabilities, costs, and expenses of any nature resulting from, arising out of, or 
related to the acts or omissions of LFN or its officers, employees, subcontractors, or agents 



 

4 
 

in performance of services pursuant to this Contract, specifically including any allegation 
regarding the provision of medical care by LFN. 

To the extent permitted by the Oregon Constitution and the Oregon Tort Claims Act (ORS 
30.260 through 30.300), the City agrees to hold harmless, indemnify, and defend LFN and 
its officers and employees from and against all claims, suits, actions, losses, damages, 
liabilities, costs and expenses of any nature resulting from, arising out of, or related to the 
acts or omissions of the City or its officers, employees, subcontractors, or agents regarding 
its duty to supply ambulances and drivers to LFN pursuant to this Contract. This 
indemnification specifically excludes any and all claims regarding the provision of medical 
care by LFN.    

3.2 Confidentiality, Privacy and Security. The confidentiality, privacy and 
security of “Protected Health Information” (as defined in the Health Insurance Portability 
and Accountability Act of 1996 and its implementing rules and regulations (“HIPAA”)) 
shall be maintained by the Parties in accordance with HIPAA and applicable state laws and 
regulations. Without limiting the generality of the foregoing, there shall be no filming, 
videotaping or recording of patients or personnel in the patient compartment of any Ground 
Ambulance leased pursuant to this Agreement. In addition, each Party shall safeguard and 
not disclose the other Party’s trade secrets and other matters of a business or financial 
nature which are not generally disclosed to the public (“Confidential Information”).  
Upon termination of this Agreement and upon request of the disclosing party, each Party 
will promptly deliver all Confidential Information, in whatever form, in its possession and 
control to the other Party, or will certify to the destruction of such Confidential 
Information, subject to each Party’s respective records retention obligations under 
applicable law.      

3.3 Entire Agreement.  This Agreement contains the entire agreement among 
the Parties relating to the subject matter described in this Agreement, and supersedes any 
prior contracts or agreements between the Parties. 

3.4 Waiver.  Compliance with this Agreement may be waived (either generally 
or in a particular instance and either retroactively or prospectively) only by the written 
agreement of LFN and City. 

3.5 Notices.  Whenever this Agreement requires that a notice be given by one 
Party to another Party, each such notice shall be given in writing.  All notices shall be 
addressed to such Party at the address of such Party as the Party has provided to the other 
Party. 

All notices, requests, demands, approvals and other communications which are required to 
be given, or may be given, from one Party to the other Party under this Agreement shall be 
deemed to have been duly given, received and effective: (i) if personally delivered, on the 
date of delivery; (ii) in the case of a notice sent by mail, when actually received by the 
addressee; and (iii) the business day immediately following the day it is sent, if sent for 
next day delivery to a domestic address by a nationally-recognized overnight courier or 
delivery service.  



 

5 
 

3.6 Governing Law.  This Agreement shall be governed by and construed in 
accordance with the laws of the State of Oregon, without regard to its conflicts of law 
principles. 

3.7 Successors and Assigns.  This Agreement shall be binding upon the Parties 
and their respective successors and permitted assigns, and shall inure to the benefit of the 
Parties and, except as otherwise provided in this Agreement, their respective successors 
and permitted assigns. Any assignment by City is void. 

3.8 Severability.  In case any one or more of the provisions contained in this 
Agreement or any application thereof shall be invalid, illegal or unenforceable in any 
respect, the validity, legality and enforceability of the remaining provisions contained in 
this Agreement and other application thereof shall not in any way be affected or impaired 
thereby. 

3.9 Counterparts.  This Agreement may be executed in counterparts and as so 
executed shall constitute one agreement binding on all the Parties. Delivery of an executed 
counterpart of a signature page to this Agreement by facsimile shall be effective as delivery 
of a manually executed counterpart of this Agreement. 

3.10 No Referral Requirement.  Nothing herein is intended to require or 
suggest any utilization of LFN other than as needed for fast, high-quality patient care.  In 
most instances, unless City judgment or patient request dictates otherwise, the air 
ambulance provider should be the closest appropriate and available air ambulance.  Further, 
nothing herein shall be construed as a requirement, express or implied, that City shall refer, 
directly or indirectly, any patient to LFN, or its member organizations, for medical 
transport services, hospital services, or other services. 

3.11 Compliance.  In the event either Party reasonably determines that this 
Agreement is not in strict compliance with applicable law, statutes, rules and regulations 
including, but not limited to, the laws and rules related to Medicare fraud and abuse, or 
antitrust, or if any authority commences regulatory and enforcement action, then the Parties 
shall negotiate any terms of this Agreement to correct the term to secure such strict 
compliance.  If it is not possible to negotiate such alternative terms, either Party may 
terminate this agreement on written notice. 

3.12 Records Retention. Until the expiration of four (4) years after the 
furnishing of services provided pursuant to this Agreement, both Parties shall make 
available to the Secretary of the United States Department of Health and Human Services 
and the United States Comptroller General, and their duly authorized representatives, this 
Agreement and all books, documents and records necessary to certify the nature and extent 
of the costs of such services, provided that access is required by law and regulations, and 
further provided that a request for such access complies with the procedural requirements 
of applicable law and regulations. 

 



 

6 
 

IN WITNESS WHEREOF, the Parties to this Agreement have duly executed this 
Agreement as of the dates set forth below. 

 
LIFE FLIGHT NETWORK, LLC, 
an Oregon limited liability company 
 
 
 
By: ____________________________  
 
Name: Ben Clayton 
Title: Chief Executive Officer  
 
Date: ___________________________ 

 
CITY OF LA GRANDE, 
 
 
 
By: _____________________________ 

Name: Robert A. Strope 
Title: La Grande City Manager 
 
Date: ____________________________ 
 

 



Agenda Item 7.c. 
Office Use Only 

CITY of LA GRANDE 
 

COUNCIL ACTION FORM 
 

Council Meeting Date:  November 2, 2022  
 
PRESENTER:           Kyle Carpenter, Public Works Director 
 
COUNCIL ACTION:          CONSIDER ESTABLISHING A PRIORITIZED ARPA ROADWAY PROJECT LIST 
 
 1.  MAYOR: Request Staff Report 
 

2.  MAYOR: Invite Public Comments 
 

 3.  MAYOR: Invite Council Discussion 
 
 4.  MAYOR: Entertain Motion 
 
  Suggested Motion:  I move that the proposed prioritized list of 

roadway projects be approved for funding with the City’s American 
Rescue Plan Act (ARPA) allocation. 

 
 5.  MAYOR: Invite Additional Council Discussion 
 
 6.  MAYOR: Ask for the Vote 
 
********************************************************************************************************************************* 
EXPLANATION:  The City of La Grande received $3,023,872 from the American Rescue Plan Act (ARPA) and 
elected the “standard allowance,” which allows the City to consider the full amount as “Revenue Loss” and funds 
can be used for any governmental purpose.  All ARPA funds must be obligated not later than December 31, 2024, 
and expended by December 31, 2026. 
 

On June 13, 2022, the City Council held a Work Session to review project proposals identified by City staff and 
tentatively prioritized the projects.  The City Council directed City staff to schedule a Virtual Town Hall/Work Session 
to be held on September 14, 2022, to receive additional public input from the community regarding the proposed 
projects. 
   
At the September 14, 2022, Virtual Town Hall/Work Session, the Department Directors, again, presented the 
proposed projects and responded to questions from the City Council.  During the Work Session, City Council 
reviewed public comments received prior to the Work Session, comments submitted online during the Work 
Session, and heard public comments from those in attendance to assist in reaching consensus on the final priority 
ranking.  The City Council added projects submitted by the public to those presented by City staff prior to their 
discussions regarding funding allocations. 
 
During the October 5, 2022, Regular Session of the City Council, the final allocation of the ARPA funds was 
established as follows: $2,773,872 to be used toward various Street Projects, with 16th and 12th Streets identified 
as top priorities, and up to $250,000 of gap funding for water and sewer improvements at the Union County 
Fairgrounds, contingent upon the outcome of funding requests submitted by the Union County Fair Board to outside 
sources.  This allocation was adopted via Resolution, necessitating a Council action item to establish the priority 
order for funding and completion of the proposed street projects. 
 
The attached prioritized project list utilizes input from City Council and the public, as well as workload projections 
to propose a project completion order.  As the funding level and project budgets are comparable in amount, it is 
anticipated that all projects will be completed over the course of three (3) budget years.  The proposed projects 
have been placed in a sequence that will allow for staff to take advantage of completing like work at the same time 



while also allowing for the work to be completed simultaneously with regularly scheduled roadway construction and 
maintenance work.  By design, the project list exceeds the funding amount currently designated for street projects.  
If actual project costs result in insufficient funds to complete all of the projects, the projects at the end of the list may 
not be completed.  As part of the annual budget process, updated estimated projects costs will be provided to 
assure all the ARPA funds are budgeted, obligated, and expended prior to the deadline with any required final 
adjustments occurring to the FY 2024-2025 projects.  If any funds are projected to remain after completion of the 
attached prioritized list, new project(s) will be presented to the City Council for consideration.   
 
The City Manager recommends establishing the prioritized list as presented by Staff. 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
********************************************************************************************************************************* 

Reviewed By: (Initial)        COUNCIL ACTION (Office Use Only) 
City Manager  _____  Human Resources Dept _____   
City Recorder  _____  Library   _____   Motion Passed 
Aquatics Division  _____  Parks Department  _____   Motion Failed;     
Building Department _____ Planning Department _____   Action Tabled:     
ED Department _____ Police Department _____ Vote:      
Finance   _____  Public Works Department _____   
Fire Department   _____        Resolution Passed #_____________ 
  Effective Date:     
 
           Ordinance Adopted #____________  
  First Reading:     
  Second Reading:    
 Effective Date:     
 



Rank Project Roadway Project Beginning Project End Type of Project Project Area Estimated Cost

1 16th Street Gekeler Lane Washington Ave Overlay 99,000 222,750.00$           
2 12th Street Washington Ave Gekeler Lane Grind and Inlay 115,300 392,000.00$           
3 Spring Avenue  4th Street Washington Ave Overlay 32,500 73,125.00$             
4 N Ave 4th Street Washington Ave Grind and Inlay 95,500 324,700.00$           
5 Walnut Street N Ave Adams Ave Grind and Inlay 85,000 289,000.00$           
6 Alder Street K Ave N Ave Grind and Inlay 41,000 139,400.00$           

7 Willow Street Cove Ave East L Ave Overlay 75,000 168,750.00$           
8 6th Street K Ave C Ave Overlay 125,000 281,250.00$           
9 Monroe Ave Fir Street RR Tracks Overlay 78,000 175,500.00$           

10 East L Avenue Willow Street 25th Street Overlay 110,000 247,500.00$           
11 Harrison Avenue Columbia Street N Cedar St Overlay 100,000 225,000.00$           
12 Division Avenue Union Street North 4th St Overlay 135,000 303,000.00$           

2,841,975.00$        

Grind and Inlay 3.40$                            
Reconstruction 8.10$                           

Overlay 2.25$                           

Method Unit Costs (sq ft)

Public Works Roadway Priortization ‐ ARPA

Scheduled for Completion During Budget Year 2022‐2023

Scheduled for Completion During Budget Year 2023‐2024

Scheduled for Completion During Budget Year 2024‐2025



Agenda Item. 7.d.   
Office Use Only 

CITY of LA GRANDE 
 

COUNCIL ACTION FORM 
 

Council Meeting Date:  November 2, 2022 
 
PRESENTER:          Gary Bell, Police Chief 
 
COUNCIL ACTION:          CONSIDER APPROVING MEASURE 110 LETTER 
 
 1.  MAYOR: Request Staff Report 
 
 2.  MAYOR: Invite Public Comment 
 

 3.  MAYOR: Invite Council Discussion 
 
 4.  MAYOR: Entertain Motion 
 
  Suggested Motion:  I move that the open letter from the City of 

La Grande regarding Measure 110 be approved and signed by 
the Mayor and Councilors. 

 
 5.  MAYOR: Invite Additional Council Discussion 
  
 6.  MAYOR: Ask for the Vote 
  
********************************************************************************************************************************* 
EXPLANATION:  At the October Regular Session of the City Council, the Mayor shared a letter from the City 
of Ontario regarding the adverse impacts of Measure 110.  Following Council discussion and remarks from Police 
Chief Bell, the City Council reached consensus on drafting a similar letter from the City of La Grande, regarding 
the failure of Measure 110.  The attached draft was prepared by the Mayor with input from Chief Bell and will be 
sent to Oregon Governor Kate Brown, Gubernatorial candidates Christin Drazan, Betsy Johnson, and Tina Kotek, 
Representative Bobby Levy and Senator Bill Hansell if approved  
 
The City Manager recommends approval of this Agenda item as presented by Staff.  
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
********************************************************************************************************************************* 
Reviewed By: (Initial)        COUNCIL ACTION (Office Use Only) 
City Manager  _____  Human Resources Dept _____   
City Recorder  _____  Library   _____   Motion Passed 
Aquatics Division  _____  Parks Department  _____   Motion Failed;     
Building Department               _____ Planning Department _____   Action Tabled:     
ED Department                       _____ Police Department                  _____ Vote:      
Finance   _____  Public Works Department _____   
Fire Department   _____        Resolution Passed 
  Effective Date:     
 
           Ordinance Adopted  
  First Reading:     
  Second Reading:    
 Effective Date:     



 
OFFICE of the MAYOR and CITY COUNCIL       P.O. BOX 670  LA GRANDE, OREGON 97850     Phone (541) 962‐1309     FAX (541) 963‐3333 

 

November 1, 2022 

An open letter from the City of La Grande to: 

Oregon Governor Kate Brown 
Gubernatorial candidates: Christine Drazan, Betsy Johnson, and Tina Kotek 
Representative Bobby Levy 
Senator Bill Hansell 
 

The City of La Grande is disappointed. 

Measure 110 is a failure! Rather than being an avenue to addiction recovery, M110 enables, and coupled with readily 
available Narcan, exacerbates drug use. The voters of Oregon were sold a faulty bill of sale, that sale MUST be rescinded! 

Measure 110 (M110) does nothing to prevent or reverse drug addictions, basically because there are no longer any 
consequences for possession of illegal drugs. Our Chief of Police, Gary Bell, reports the majority of individuals cited for 
possession are ignoring the citation they are issued. “Offenders,” which according to M110 may not be an appropriate 
term, are cited and released and because there are no repercussions for their drug use, few seek any help. The “hotline” set 
up for individuals seeking treatment is really a “cold-line;” the number of actual calls received is a tiny fraction compared 
to the number of citations issued. 

If M110 was intended to get drugs off the street, it fails. Before M110, arresting officers had some leverage to encourage 
users to reveal information about where they scored their drugs. This information periodically resulted in arrests of 
dealers, large and small. This leverage no longer exists, and rather than reducing the amount of drugs on the street, that 
amount and the number of users is increasing at unprecedented rates. 

We understand that funding for treatment services will go to cities throughout the State. Honestly, we are skeptical that 
the amount of money La Grande and Union County will eventually receive is close to adequate to address the problems 
created by M110. And, why bother spending the money in the first place when the individuals it is intended to help are 
refusing to seek it? 

Please, for the citizens of La Grande, Union County, Eastern Oregon and the entire State, do something to reverse 
Measure 110 as soon as possible. 

Thank you for your time and consideration. 

Respectfully submitted, 

 

_____________________ ________________________ _____________________ 
Mayor, Steve Clements Mayor Pro, Tem Gary Lillard Councilor, John Bozarth 
 

_____________________ _______________________ _________________________ 
Councilor, Dave Glabe Councilor, Nicole Howard Councilor, Mary Ann Miesner 
 

_____________________ 
Councilor, Justin Rock 



 

 

Dear Governor Brown, 

 

As representatives of the City of La Grande, we wish to express our unanimous concern about the 

impact that Measure 110 has had on our community. Although we recognize that the intent of this bill 

was to help those suffering from substance abuse disorders, we have observed some unintended and 

undesirable consequences of its implementation. We commend you for your efforts to alleviate 

substance abuse in our state, but we feel that Measure 110 has already proven to be ineffective as a 

solution to this complex issue. 

 

We have observed drug overdoses in our community rise sharply in the months since Measure 110 took 

effect. Our law enforcement officials consistently report that persons cited for possession of illicit 

substances overwhelmingly choose to not seek recovery assistance through the provided hotline. 

Seeing no substantial consequences for their actions, these individuals lack motivation to pursue 

treatment for their harmful behaviors. The lack of criminal penalty for illicit drug use has emboldened 

some of our citizens to use these substances openly in our public downtown spaces, creating significant 

safety concerns for residents and nearby businesses. We are also concerned about the consequences for 

our youth in light of two recent incidents involving possession of illicit substances by elementary 

school students. In both cases, the children obtained these substances from home consistent with trends 

of higher drug use in our community. 

 

Our community lacks the treatment services and law enforcement resources necessary to cope with the 

effects of Measure 110 and we are concerned that additional funding may be inadequate to solve the 

new problems that it has created. We plead with you for a better solution which will help those affected 

by substance use disorders while also providing appropriate consequences for harmful behavior to deter 

repeat offenders and first time users alike.   

 

We appreciate your attention to these matters of significance to our beautiful community as we work 

tirelessly to make La Grande a great place for all to live and visit. 

 

Sincerely, 

 

La Grande City Council 


	5.a. Full Packet 01-PCA-22 (use this for adding to full packet).pdf
	2 - Rose Denial 091522.pdf
	11-CUP-22 Rose FINAL Decision Order.pdf
	I. Application Information
	II. Schedule of Procedural and Public Hearing Requirements
	III. Public Notice Information
	IV. Review Process and Appeals
	V. Staff Recommended Conclusions and Order
	VI. General Facts and Overview
	VII. Agency Comments
	VIII. Public Comments
	IX. Analysis of Applicable Standards
	X. LDC Section 8.5.003 – Review Criteria
	XI. Conclusions and Order


	ADP6627.tmp
	I. Application Information
	II. Schedule of Procedural and Public Hearing Requirements
	III. Public Notice Information
	IV. Review Process and Appeals
	V. LDC Section 9.7.004 – Initiation of Appeal
	VI. Staff Recommended Conclusions and Order
	VII. General Facts and Overview
	VIII. Agency Comments
	IX. Public Comments
	X. Analysis of Applicable Standards
	XI. LDC Section 8.5.003 – Review Criteria
	XII. Conclusions and Order





